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As used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, unless the context requires otherwise, references to “Opendoor,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and
“our,” and similar references refer to Opendoor Technologies Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries following the Business Combination (as defined
herein) and to Opendoor Labs Inc. prior to the Business Combination.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than
statements of historical facts contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including, without limitation, statements regarding: current and future
health and stability of the real estate housing market and general economy; volatility of mortgage interest rates, changes in resale clearance rates and
expectations regarding future behavior of consumers and partners; the health and status of our financial condition; anticipated future results of operations or
financial performance; priorities of the Company to achieve future financial and business goals; our ability to continue to effectively navigate the markets
in which we operate; anticipated future and ongoing impacts and benefits of acquisitions, partnership channel expansions, product innovations and other
business decisions; health of our balance sheet to weather ongoing market transitions and any expectation to quickly re-scale in the future upon market
stabilization; our ability to adopt an effective approach to manage economic and industry risk, as well as inventory health; our expectations with respect to
the future success of our partnerships and our ability to drive significant growth in sales volumes through such partnerships; our business strategy and
plans, including plans to expand into additional markets; market opportunity and expansion and objectives of management for future operations, including
statements regarding the benefits and timing of the roll out of new markets, products, or technology; and the expected diversification of funding sources,
are forward-looking statements. When used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,”
“could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,” “future,” “guidance,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “opportunity,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,”
“project,” “should,” “strategy,” “strive,” “target, will,” or “would,” any negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions may
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vision,”
identify forward-looking statements. The absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking.

These forward-looking statements are based on information available as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and current expectations,
forecasts and assumptions, which involve a number of judgments, risks and uncertainties, including without limitation, risks related to:

+ the current and future health and stability of the economy, financial conditions and residential housing market, including any extended downturns
or slowdowns;

» changes in general economic and financial conditions (including federal monetary policy, interest rates, inflation, actual or anticipated recession,
home price fluctuations, and housing inventory), as well as the probability of such changes occurring, that may impact demand for our products
and services, lower our profitability or reduce our access to future financings;

» our real estate assets and increased competition in the U.S. residential real estate industry;
* ability to operate and grow our core business products, including the ability to obtain sufficient financing and resell purchased homes;

+ investment of resources to pursue strategies and develop new products and services that may not prove effective or that are not attractive to
customers and real estate partners or that do not allow us to compete successfully;

+ our ability to acquire and resell homes profitably;

* our ability to grow market share in our existing markets or any new markets we may enter;
+ our ability to manage our growth effectively;

 our ability to expeditiously sell and appropriately price our inventory;

+ our ability to access sources of capital, including debt financing and securitization funding to finance our real estate inventories and other sources
of capital to finance operations and growth;

* our ability to maintain and enhance our products and brand, and to attract customers;
 our ability to manage, develop and refine our digital platform, including our automated pricing and valuation technology;

 our ability to comply with multiple listing service rules and requirements to access and use listing data, and to maintain or establish relationships
with listings and data providers;

+ our ability to obtain or maintain licenses and permits to support our current and future business operations;
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* acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, capital-raising activities or other corporate transactions or commitments by us or our
competitors;

+ actual or anticipated changes in technology, products, markets or services by us or our competitors;
* our success in retaining or recruiting, or changes required in, our officers, key employees and/or directors;
+ the impact of the regulatory environment within our industry and complexities with compliance related to such environment;

 any future impact of pandemics or epidemics, including any future resurgences of COVID-19 and its variants, or other public health crises on our
ability to operate, demand for our products or services, or general economic conditions;

* changes in laws or government regulation affecting our business; and

+ the impact of pending or any future litigation or regulatory actions.

Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our
management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the effect of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may
cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this report may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely
from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. Accordingly, forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing our
views as of any subsequent date, and we do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the
date they were made, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.

As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, including, without limitation, those described in the “Risk Factors” section of
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and on Part I. Item 1A “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 (the
“Annual Report”), our actual results or performance may be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. You
should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions, except share data)

(Unaudited)
September 30, December 31,
2024 2023
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 829 § 999
Restricted cash 225 541
Marketable securities 8 69
Escrow receivable 15 9
Real estate inventory, net 2,145 1,775
Other current assets 41 52
Total current assets 3,263 3,445
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT — Net 59 66
RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 25 25
GOODWILL 3 4
INTANGIBLES — Net — 5
OTHER ASSETS 61 22
TOTAL ASSETS ® 3§ 3411 8 3,567
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities $ 71 $ 64
Non-recourse asset-backed debt — current portion 643 —
Interest payable 3 1
Lease liabilities — current portion 4 5
Total current liabilities 721 70
NON-RECOURSE ASSET-BACKED DEBT — Net of current portion 1,491 2,134
CONVERTIBLE SENIOR NOTES 377 376
LEASE LIABILITIES — Net of current portion 19 19
OTHER LIABILITIES 2 1
Total liabilities ) 2,610 2,600
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (See Note 15)
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 3,000,000,000 shares authorized; 711,660,871 and 677,636,163 shares issued, respectively; 711,660,871
and 677,636,163 shares outstanding, respectively — —
Additional paid-in capital 4,413 4,301
Accumulated deficit (3,612) (3,333)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss — (1)
Total shareholders’ equity 801 967
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 3411 8 3,567

@

@)

The Company’s consolidated assets at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 include the following assets of certain variable interest entities (““VIEs”) that can only be used to settle
the liabilities of those VIEs: Restricted cash, $214 and $530; Real estate inventory, net, $2,088 and $1,735; Escrow receivable, $14 and $8; Other current assets, $14 and $10; and Total
assets of $2,330 and $2,283, respectively.

The Company’s consolidated liabilities at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 include the following liabilities for which the VIE creditors do not have recourse to Opendoor:
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities, $34 and $28; Current portion of non-recourse asset-backed debt, $643 and $—; Interest payable, $2 and $1; Non-recourse asset-backed debt,
net of current portion, $1,491 and $2,134; and Total liabilities, $2,170 and $2,163, respectively.

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(In millions, except share amounts which are presented in thousands, and per share amounts)

REVENUE
COST OF REVENUE
GROSS PROFIT
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Sales, marketing and operations
General and administrative
Technology and development
Restructuring
Total operating expenses
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS
(LOSS) GAIN ON EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT
INTEREST EXPENSE
OTHER INCOME — Net
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
NET LOSS

Net loss per share attributable to common shareholders:

Basic
Diluted
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023

$ 1,377 § 980 4,069 $§ 6,076
1,272 884 3,721 5,661

105 96 348 415

96 85 325 397

46 48 141 158

30 42 108 121

— — — 10

172 175 574 686
(67) (79) (226) @271)

— — 1) 182
(34) 47) (101) (174)

23 20 50 80

(78) (106) (278) (183)

— — ) )

$ (78) $ (106) (279) $ (184)
$ 0.11) $ (0.16) (0.40) $ (0.28)
$ 0.11) $ (0.16) (0.40) $ (0.28)
705,359 662,149 693,796 651,939
705,359 662,149 693,796 651,939

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In millions)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023

NET LOSS $ (78) $ (106) $ 279) $ (184)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

Unrealized gain on marketable securities — 1 1 3
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $ (78) $ (105) $ (278) $ (181)

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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BALANCE-June 30, 2024

Issuance of common stock for settlement of RSUs, net of
shares withheld for participant taxes

Exercise of stock options

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase
plan, net of shares withheld for participant taxes

Stock-based compensation
Other comprehensive income

Net loss
BALANCE-September 30, 2024

BALANCE-December 31, 2023

Issuance of common stock for settlement of RSUs, net of
shares withheld for participant taxes

Exercise of stock options

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase
plan, net of shares withheld for participant taxes

Stock-based compensation
Other comprehensive income

Net loss

BALANCE-September 30, 2024

OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In millions, except number of shares)

(Unaudited)
Shareholders’ Equity
Accumulated
C Stock Additional Other Total
ommon Stoc Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholders’
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity
698,843,166 $ — 3 4,379 (3,534) — 3 845
11,194,753 — 1 — — 1
169,483 — — — — —
1,453,469 — 3 — — 3
— — 30 — — 30
— — — (78) — (78)
711,660,871  § — S 4,413 (3,612) — 8 801
Shareholders’ Equity
Accumulated
C Stock Additional Other Total
ommon Stoc Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholders’
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity

677,636,163 $ — 3 4,301 (3,333) a1 s 967
30,590,634 — 1 — — 1
363,277 — — = — —
3,070,797 — 5 — — 5
— — 106 — — 106

_ — — — 1 1
— — — (279) — (279)
711,660,871  § — S 4,413 (3,612) — $ 801
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BALANCE-June 30, 2023

Issuance of common stock for settlement of RSUs, net of
shares withheld for participant taxes

Exercise of stock options

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase
plan, net of shares withheld for participant taxes

Stock-based compensation
Other comprehensive income

Net loss
BALANCE-September 30, 2023

BALANCE-December 31, 2022

Issuance of common stock for settlement of RSUs, net of
shares withheld for participant taxes

Exercise of stock options

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase
plan, net of shares withheld for participant taxes

Stock-based compensation
Other comprehensive income

Net loss

BALANCE-September 30, 2023

OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In millions, except number of shares)

(Unaudited)
Shareholders’ Equity
Accumulated
Common Stock Additio.nal Other ) Total
Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholders’
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity

657,337,566  $ — 3 4224 § (3,136) ?2) 1,086
9,613,088 — — — — —
134,563 — — — — —
1,507,363 — 1 — — 1
— — 38 — — 38

— — — — 1 1
— — — (106) — (106)
668,592,580 $ — 3 4263 $ (3,242) 1) 1,020

Shareholders’ Equity
Accumulated
Common Stock Additional Other Total
Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholders’
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity

637,387,025 $ — 3 4,148 $ (3,058) ) 1,086
26,749,344 — — — — —
2,304,417 — 2 — — 2
2,151,794 — 2 — — 2
— — 111 — — 111

— — — — 3 3
_ . — (184) — (184)
668,592,580 $ — $ 4263 § (3,242) 1) 1,020

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $ 279) $ (184)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (used in) provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 37 50
Amortization of right of use asset 4 5
Stock-based compensation 91 94
Inventory valuation adjustment 51 54

Changes in fair value of equity securities

Other
Proceeds from sale and principal collections of mortgage loans held for sale — 1
Loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt 1 (182)
Gain on deconsolidation, net (14) —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Escrow receivable (6) 19

Real estate inventory (422) 3,082

Other assets 9 (15)
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 4 29)

Interest payable 1 (10)

Lease liabilities 5) ©9)

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (515) 2,886

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property and equipment (22) (28)
Proceeds from sales, maturities, redemptions and paydowns of marketable securities 55 75

Proceeds from sale of non-marketable equity securities — 1

Cash impact of deconsolidation of subsidiaries ?2) —
Net cash provided by investing activities 31 48
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repurchase of convertible senior notes — (270)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options — 2
Proceeds from issuance of common stock for ESPP 5 2
Proceeds from non-recourse asset-backed debt 417 238
Principal payments on non-recourse asset-backed debt (424) (2,315)
Payment for early extinguishment of debt — 4)
Net cash used in financing activities 2) (2,347)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH (486) 587
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH — Beginning of period 1,540 1,791
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH — End of period $ 1,054  § 2,378
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION — Cash paid during the period for interest $ 93 $ 169
DISCLOSURES OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Stock-based compensation expense capitalized for internally developed software $ 15 3 17
Investment in non-marketable equity securities due to deconsolidation $ 39§ =
RECONCILIATION TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 829 § 1,154
Restricted cash 225 1,224
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 1,054 $ 2,378

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tabular amounts in millions, except share and per share amounts, ratios, or as noted)
(Unaudited)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business

Opendoor Technologies Inc. (the “Company” and “Opendoor”) including its consolidated subsidiaries and certain variable interest entities (“VIEs”),
is a managed marketplace for residential real estate. By leveraging its centralized digital platform, Opendoor is working towards a future that enables
sellers and buyers of residential real estate to experience a simple and certain transaction that is dramatically improved from the traditional process. The
Company was incorporated in Delaware on December 30, 2013.

The Company completed a business combination with Social Capital Hedosophia Holdings Corp. II (“SCH”), a Cayman Islands exempted company
formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, share exchange, asset acquisition, share purchase, reorganization or similar business combination with one or
more businesses (the “Business Combination”). The Business Combination, pursuant to which Opendoor Labs Inc. became a wholly owned subsidiary of
SCH and SCH changed its name from “Social Capital Hedosophia Holdings Corp. II”” to “Opendoor Technologies Inc.”, was completed on December 18,
2020, and was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization, in accordance with GAAP.

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States of America (“GAAP”). The condensed consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 and for the
three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 include the accounts of Opendoor, its wholly owned subsidiaries and VIEs where the
Company is the primary beneficiary. The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments which are, in the
opinion of management, necessary to a fair statement of the results for the interim periods presented. All significant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in the condensed consolidated financial statements herein. Certain prior period amounts in the condensed consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation.

The accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements and these related notes should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and related notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 (“Annual Report™)
filed on February 15, 2024.

At-The-Market Equity Offering

In May 2024, the Company entered into an at-the-market equity offering sales agreement (the “ATM Agreement”) with Barclays Capital Inc. and
Virtu Americas LLC, as sales agents (the "Agents"), pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time, through the Agents, shares of
the Company’s common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $200 million. Under the ATM Agreement, the Agents may sell shares by any
method deemed to be an “at-the-market offering.” During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, there was no activity pursuant to the ATM
Agreement.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that have a material
impact on the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates, assumptions and judgments made by
management include, among others, the determination of the fair value of common stock, share-based awards, warrants, and inventory valuation
adjustment. Management believes that the estimates and judgments upon which management relies are reasonable based upon information available to
management at the time that these estimates and judgments are made. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates, assumptions and
judgments and actual results, the carrying values of the Company's assets and liabilities and the results of operations will be affected. The health of the
residential housing market and interest rate environment have introduced additional uncertainty with respect to judgments, estimates and assumptions,
which may materially impact the estimates previously listed, among others.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tabular amounts in millions, except share and per share amounts, ratios, or as noted)
(Unaudited)

Significant Risks and Uncertainties

The Company operates in a dynamic industry and, accordingly, can be affected by a variety of factors. For example, the Company believes that
changes in any of the following areas could have a significant negative effect on the Company in terms of its future financial position, results of operations
or cash flows: its rates of revenue growth; its ability to manage inventory; engagement and usage of its products; the effectiveness of its investment of
resources to pursue strategies; competition in its market; the stability of the residential real estate market; the impact of interest rate changes on demand for
and pricing of its products and on the cost of capital; changes in technology, products, markets or services by the Company or its competitors; its ability to
maintain or establish relationships with listings and data providers; its ability to obtain or maintain licenses and permits to support its current and future
businesses; actual or anticipated changes to its products and services; changes in government regulation affecting its business; the outcomes of legal
proceedings; natural disasters and catastrophic events, such as pandemics or epidemics (including any future resurgence of COVID-19 or its variants);
scaling and adaptation of existing technology and network infrastructure; its management of its growth; its ability to attract and retain qualified employees
and key personnel; its ability to successfully integrate and realize the benefits of its past or future strategic acquisitions or investments; the protection of
customers’ information and other privacy concerns; the protection of its brand and intellectual property; and intellectual property infringement and other
claims, among other things.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, and investments in marketable and non-marketable securities. The Company places cash and cash equivalents and investments with major
financial institutions, which management assesses to be of high credit quality, in order to limit exposure of the Company’s investments.

Significant Accounting Policies

The Company’s significant accounting policies are discussed in “Part Il — Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 1.
Description of Business and Accounting Policies” in the Annual Report. There have been no changes to these significant accounting policies for the nine-
month period ended September 30, 2024, except as noted below.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets, among other long-lived assets, are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived
asset or asset group be tested for possible impairment, the Company first compares undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by that asset or asset
group to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, an
impairment loss is recognized to the extent the carrying amount of the underlying asset exceeds its fair value. The impairment loss recognized for the
periods presented is primarily related to impairment of certain internally developed software projects. The impairment loss recognized during the periods
presented is as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
General and administrative $ — 8 1 $ — 3
Technology and development $ 1 S 1 4 4
Total impairment loss $ I $ 2 8 4 8

Stock-Based Compensation
RSUs

Prior to its listing, the Company granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) with a performance condition, based on a liquidity event, as defined by the
share agreement, as well as a service condition to vest, which was generally four years. The

10
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tabular amounts in millions, except share and per share amounts, ratios, or as noted)
(Unaudited)

Company determined the fair value of RSUs based on the valuation of the Company’s common stock as of the grant date. No compensation expense was
recognized for performance-based awards until the liquidity event occurred in February 2021. Subsequent to the occurrence of the liquidity event,
compensation expense was recognized on an accelerated attribution basis over the requisite service period of the awards.

After the Company became listed, the Company began granting RSUs subject to a service condition to vest, which is generally two to four years.
Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis subject to a floor of the vested number of shares for each award. In the quarter ended March
31, 2024, the Company began granting RSUs to certain executive employees that contain a performance condition and service condition to vest. If the
award is deemed probable of being earned, compensation expense is recognized on an accelerated attribution basis over the requisite service period of the
award, which is generally three years. The Company reassesses the probability of achieving the performance condition at each reporting date during the
performance period. The Company determines the fair value of RSUs based on the Company’s grant date closing stock price and recognizes forfeitures as
they occur.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In July 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-03 which amends various paragraphs in the Accounting Standards Codification pursuant to the issuance of
Commission Staff Bulletin No. 120. These updates were effective immediately and did not have a material impact on the Company’s condensed
consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-06 which is intended to clarify or improve disclosure and presentation requirements of a variety of
topics. It will allow users to more easily compare entities subject to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission's ("SEC") existing disclosures with
those entities that were not previously subject to the requirements and align the requirements in the FASB accounting standard codification with the SEC's
regulations. The effective date for each amendment will be the date on which the SEC's removal of that related disclosure from Regulation S-X or
Regulation S-K becomes effective, or if the SEC has not removed the applicable disclosure requirement by June 30, 2027, the amendment will not be
effective for any entity. Early adoption is prohibited. The Company is currently assessing the impact on the Company's disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, which expands reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced
disclosures about significant segment expenses. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and for interim periods
within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted and retrospective application to all prior periods presented in the
financials is required. The Company is currently assessing the impact on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, which expands income tax disclosure requirements to include additional information related to

the rate reconciliation of effective tax rates to statutory rates as well as additional disaggregation of taxes paid. This guidance is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2024, and early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact on the Company's disclosures.
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2.  REAL ESTATE INVENTORY

The following table presents the components of inventory, net of applicable inventory valuation adjustments of $36 million and $27 million, as of
September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively (in millions):

September 30, December 31,
2024 2023
Work in progress $ 275 $ 640
Finished goods:
Listed for sale 1,416 882
Under contract for sale 454 253
Total real estate inventory $ 2,145 § 1,775

As of September 30, 2024, the Company was in contract to purchase 1,006 homes for an aggregate purchase price of $332 million.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company recorded inventory valuation adjustments for real estate inventory of
$10 million and $51 million, respectively, in Cost of revenue in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. During the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2023, the Company recorded inventory valuation adjustments for real estate inventory of $17 million and $54 million, respectively, in
Cost of revenue in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

3. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS
The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, and fair value of cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities as of September 30, 2024

and December 31, 2023, are as follows (in millions):
September 30, 2024

Cost Unrealized Unrealized Cash and Cash Marketable

Basis Gains Losses Fair Value Equivalents Securities
Cash $ 62 $ — § — § 62 $ 62 § —
Money market funds 767 — — 767 767 —
Equity securities 8 — — 8 — 8
Total $ 837 § — 3 — 3 837 § 829 §

December 31, 2023

Cost Unrealized Unrealized Cash and Cash Marketable

Basis Gains Losses Fair Value Equivalents Securities
Cash $ 63 $ — 3 — 63 § 63 $ —
Money market funds 936 — — 936 936 —
Corporate debt securities 55 — (1) 54 — 54
Equity securities 15 — — 15 — 15
Total $ 1,069 § — 3 1 $ 1,068 $ 999 § 69

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company recognized $3 million and $7 million of net unrealized losses,
respectively in the condensed consolidated statements of operations related to marketable equity securities held as of September 30, 2024. During the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized $(6) million and $1 million of net unrealized (losses) gains, respectively, in the
condensed consolidated statements of operations related to marketable equity securities held as of September 30, 2023.
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The Company had no available-for-sale debt securities as of September 30, 2024. A summary of debt securities with unrealized losses aggregated by
period of continuous unrealized loss as of December 31, 2023 is as follows (in millions):

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
December 31, 2023 Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
Corporate debt securities $ — 3 — 3 54 3 1 $ 54 1)
Total $ — 3 — $ 54§ (1 $ 54§ (1)

Net unrealized losses of the Company's available-for-sale debt securities as of December 31, 2023 were $1 million. These unrealized losses are
associated with the Company’s investments in corporate debt securities and were due to interest rate increases, and not credit-related events. The Company
does not expect to be required to sell the investments before recovery of the amortized cost bases. As such, no allowance for credit losses is required as of
September 30, 2024 or December 31, 2023.

A summary of non-marketable equity securities and equity method investment balances as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are as
follows (in millions):

September 30, December 31,
2024 2023
Equity method investments $ 21 § 20
Non-marketable equity securities 39 —
Total $ 60 § 20

No unrealized losses were recognized during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 in the condensed consolidated statements of
operations related to non-marketable equity securities held as of September 30, 2024. During both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023,
the Company recognized $5 million of net unrealized losses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations related to non-marketable equity
securities held as of September 30, 2023.

4. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

The Company utilizes VIEs in the normal course of business to support the Company’s financing needs. The Company determines whether the
Company is the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the time it becomes involved with the VIE and reconsiders that conclusion on an on-going basis.

The Company established certain special purpose entities (“SPEs”) for the purpose of financing the Company’s purchase and renovation of real estate
inventory through the issuance of asset-backed debt. The Company is the primary beneficiary of the various VIEs within these financing structures and
consolidates these VIEs. The Company is determined to be the primary beneficiary based on its power to direct the activities that most significantly impact
the economic outcomes of the SPEs through its role in designing the SPEs and managing the real estate inventory they purchase and sell. The Company has
a potentially significant variable interest in the entities based upon the equity interest the Company holds in the VIEs.
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The following table summarizes the assets and liabilities related to the VIEs consolidated by the Company as of September 30, 2024 and

December 31, 2023 (in millions):

Assets

Restricted cash

Real estate inventory, net
Other™"

Total assets

Liabilities

Non-recourse asset-backed debt

Other?

Total liabilities

@ TIncludes escrow receivable and other current assets.

@ Includes accounts payable and other accrued liabilities and interest payable.

September 30, December 31,
2024 2023

214 530

2,088 1,735

28 18

2,330 2,283

2,134 2,134

36 29

2,170 2,163

The creditors of the VIEs generally do not have recourse to the Company’s general credit solely by virtue of being creditors of the VIEs. However,
certain of the financial covenants included in the inventory financing facilities to which the VIEs are party are calculated by reference to Opendoor Labs
Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries' assets and liabilities. As a result, under certain circumstances, this may limit the Company's flexibility to transfer
assets from Opendoor subsidiaries to the Parent Company. See “Note 5 — Credit Facilities and Long-Term Debt” for further discussion of the recourse

obligations with respect to the VIEs.
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5.  CREDIT FACILITIES AND LONG-TERM DEBT

(Unaudited)

The following tables summarize certain details related to the Company's credit facilities and long-term debt as of September 30, 2024 and
December 31, 2023 (in millions, except interest rates):

Outstanding Amount
Weighted
Borrowing Average End of Revolving / Final Maturity
September 30, 2024 Capacity Current Non-Current Interest Rate Withdrawal Period Date
Non-Recourse Asset-backed Debt:
Asset-backed Senior Revolving Credit
Facilities
Revolving Facility 2018-2 1,000 § —  $ — — % June 24, 2026 June 24, 2026
Revolving Facility 2018-3 1,000 258 — 8.26 % September 29, 2026 September 29, 2026
Revolving Facility 2019-1 300 — — — % August 15, 2025 August 15,2025
Revolving Facility 2019-2 550 — — — % October 3, 2025 October 2, 2026
Revolving Facility 2019-3 100 35 — 8.21 % April 4, 2025 April 3, 2026
Asset-backed Senior Term Debt Facilities
Term Debt Facility 2021-S1 100 100 — 3.48 % January 2, 2025 April 1, 2025
Term Debt Facility 2021-S2 400 — 300 323 % September 10, 2025 March 10, 2026
Term Debt Facility 2021-S3 1,000 — 750 375 % January 31, 2027 July 31, 2027
Term Debt Facility 2022-S1 250 250 — 4.07 % March 1, 2025 September 1, 2025
Total 4,700 $ 643 $ 1,050
Issuance Costs — ®)
Carrying Value $ 643 $ 1,042
Asset-backed Mezzanine Term Debt
Facilities
Term Debt Facility 2020-M1 1,800 — 300 10.00 % April 1,2025 April 1, 2026
Term Debt Facility 2022-M1 500 — 150 10.00 % September 15, 2025 September 15, 2026
Total 2300 $ — 3 450
Issuance Costs (1)
Carrying Value $ 449
Total Non-Recourse Asset-backed Debt 7,000 S 643§ 1,491
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Outstanding Amount
Weighted
Average
December 31, 2023 Current Non-Current Interest Rate
Non-Recourse Asset-backed Debt:
Asset-backed Senior Revolving Credit Facilities
Revolving Facility 2018-2 $ — 3 — 7.49 %
Revolving Facility 2018-3 — — 6.82 %
Revolving Facility 2019-1 — — 7.34 %
Revolving Facility 2019-2 — — 6.83 %
Revolving Facility 2019-3 — — — %
Asset-backed Senior Term Debt Facilities
Term Debt Facility 2021-S1 — 100 3.48 %
Term Debt Facility 2021-S2 — 300 3.20 %
Term Debt Facility 2021-S3 — 750 3.75%
Term Debt Facility 2022-S1 — 250 4.07 %
Total $ — 3 1,400
Issuance Costs — (12)
Carrying Value $ — 3 1,388
Asset-backed Mezzanine Term Debt Facilities
Term Debt Facility 2020-M1 $ — 3 600 10.00 %
Term Debt Facility 2022-M1 $ — 3 150 10.00 %
Total $ — 3 750
Issuance Costs “)
Carrying Value $ 746
Total Non-Recourse Asset-backed Debt $ — 3 2,134

Non-Recourse Asset-backed Debt

The Company utilizes inventory financing facilities consisting of asset-backed senior debt facilities and asset-backed mezzanine term debt facilities to
provide financing for the Company’s real estate inventory purchases and renovation. These inventory financing facilities are typically secured by some
combination of restricted cash, equity in real estate owning subsidiaries and related holding companies, and, for senior facilities, the real estate inventory
financed by the relevant facility and/or beneficial interests in such inventory.

Each of the borrowers under the inventory financing facilities is a consolidated subsidiary of Opendoor and a separate legal entity. Neither the assets
nor credit of any such borrower subsidiaries are generally available to satisfy the debts and other obligations of any other Opendoor entities. The inventory
financing facilities are non-recourse to the Company and are non-recourse to Opendoor subsidiaries not party to the relevant facilities, except for limited
guarantees provided by an Opendoor subsidiary for certain obligations involving “bad acts” by an Opendoor entity and certain other limited circumstances.

As of September 30, 2024, the Company had total borrowing capacity with respect to its non-recourse asset-backed debt of $7.0 billion. Borrowing
capacity amounts under non-recourse asset-backed debt as reflected in the table above are in some cases not fully committed and any borrowings above the
committed amounts are subject to the applicable lender’s discretion. Any amounts repaid for senior term and mezzanine term debt facilities reduce total
borrowing capacity as repaid amounts are not available to be reborrowed. As of September 30, 2024, the Company had committed borrowing capacity with
respect to the Company’s non-recourse asset-backed debt of $2.3 billion; this committed borrowing capacity is comprised of $400 million for senior
revolving credit facilities, $1.4 billion for senior term debt facilities, and $450 million for mezzanine term debt facilities.
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Asset-backed Senior Revolving Credit Facilities

The Company classifies the senior revolving credit facilities as current liabilities on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets as
amounts drawn to acquire and renovate homes are required to be repaid as the related real estate inventory is sold, which the Company expects to occur
within 12 months.

The senior revolving credit facilities are typically structured with an initial revolving period of up to 24 months during which time amounts can be
borrowed, repaid and borrowed again. The borrowing capacity is generally available until the end of the applicable revolving period as reflected in the table
above. Outstanding amounts drawn under each senior revolving credit facility are required to be repaid on the facility maturity date or earlier if accelerated
due to an event of default or other mandatory repayment event. The final maturity dates and revolving period end dates reflected in the table above are
inclusive of any extensions that are at the sole discretion of the Company. These facilities may also have extensions subject to lender discretion that are not
reflected in the table above.

Borrowings under the senior revolving credit facilities accrue interest at various floating rates based on a secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”),
plus a margin that varies by facility. The Company may also pay fees on certain unused portions of committed borrowing capacity. The Company’s senior
revolving credit facility arrangements typically include upfront fees that may be paid at execution of the applicable agreements or be earned at execution
and payable over time. These facilities are generally fully prepayable at any time without penalty other than customary breakage costs.

The senior revolving credit facilities have aggregated borrowing bases, which increase or decrease based on the cost and value of the properties
financed under a given facility and the time that those properties are in the Company’s possession. When the Company resells a home, the proceeds are
used to reduce the outstanding balance under the related senior revolving credit facility. The borrowing base for a given facility may be reduced as
properties age beyond certain thresholds or the performance of the properties financed under that facility declines, and any borrowing base deficiencies
may be satisfied through contributions of additional properties or partial repayment of the facility.

Asset-backed Senior Term Debt Facilities

The Company classifies its senior term debt facilities as current or non-current liabilities on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets
based on the applicable final maturity date.

The senior term debt facilities are typically structured with an initial withdrawal period up to 60 months during which the outstanding principal
amounts are generally not required to be repaid when homes financed through those facilities are sold and instead are intended to remain outstanding until
final maturity for each facility. Outstanding amounts drawn under each senior term debt facility are required to be repaid on the facility maturity date or
earlier if accelerated due to an event of default or other mandatory repayment event. The final maturity dates and withdrawal period end dates reflected in
the table above are inclusive of any extensions that are at the sole discretion of the Company. These facilities may also have extensions subject to lender
discretion that are not reflected in the table above.

Borrowings under the senior term debt facilities accrue interest at a fixed rate. The Company's senior term debt facilities may include upfront issuance
costs that are capitalized as part of the facilities' respective carrying values. These facilities are fully prepayable at any time but may be subject to certain
customary prepayment penalties.

The senior term debt facilities have aggregated property borrowing bases, which increase or decrease based on the cost and value of the properties
financed under a given facility, the time those properties are in the Company’s possession and the amount of cash collateral pledged by the relevant
borrowers. The borrowing base for a given facility may be reduced as properties age or collateral performance declines beyond certain thresholds, and any
borrowing base deficiencies may be satisfied through contributions of additional properties, cash or through partial repayment of the facility.

Asset-backed Mezzanine Term Debt Facilities
The Company classifies its mezzanine term debt facilities as current or non-current liabilities on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance

sheets based on the applicable final maturity date. These facilities are structurally and contractually subordinated to the related asset-backed senior debt
facilities.
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The mezzanine term debt facilities have been structured with an initial 42-month withdrawal period during which the outstanding principal amounts
are generally not required to be repaid when homes financed through those facilities are sold and instead are intended to remain outstanding until final
maturity. Outstanding amounts drawn under the mezzanine term debt facilities are required to be repaid on the facility maturity date or earlier if accelerated
due to an event of default or other mandatory repayment event. The final maturity date and withdrawal period end date reflected in the table above are
inclusive of any extensions that are at the sole discretion of the Company. These facilities may also have extensions subject to lender discretion that are not
reflected in the table above.

Borrowings under a given mezzanine term debt facility accrue interest at a fixed rate. The Company’s mezzanine term debt facilities include upfront
issuance costs that are capitalized as part of the facilities’ respective carrying values. These facilities are fully prepayable at any time but may be subject to
certain prepayment penalties.

The mezzanine term debt facilities have aggregated property borrowing bases, which increase or decrease based on the cost and value of the
properties financed under a given facility and time in the Company’s possession of those properties and the amount of cash collateral pledged by the
relevant borrowers. The borrowing base for a given facility may be reduced as properties age or collateral performance declines beyond certain thresholds,
and any borrowing base deficiencies may be satisfied through contributions of additional properties, cash or through partial repayment of the facility.

Covenants

The Company’s inventory financing facilities include customary representations and warranties, covenants and events of default. Financed properties
are subject to customary eligibility criteria and concentration limits.

The terms of these inventory financing facilities and related financing documents require an Opendoor subsidiary to comply with customary financial
covenants, such as maintaining certain levels of liquidity, tangible net worth or leverage (ratio of debt to tangible net worth). Certain of these financial
covenants are calculated by reference to Opendoor Labs Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities. As a result, under certain
circumstances, this may limit the Company’s flexibility to transfer assets from Opendoor subsidiaries to the Parent Company. At September 30, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, $276 million and $275 million, respectively, of the Company’s net assets were restricted as they reflect minimum net asset
requirements at Opendoor Labs Inc. As of September 30, 2024, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants and no event of default had
occurred.

Convertible Senior Notes

In August 2021, the Company issued 0.25% senior notes due in 2026 (the “2026 Notes”) with an aggregate principal amount of $978 million. The
tables below summarize certain details related to the 2026 Notes (in millions, except interest rates):

Remaining Aggregate Unamortized Debt

September 30, 2024 Principal Amount Issuance Costs Net Carrying Amount
2026 Notes $ 381 § 4 3 377
Stated Cash Interest Effective Interest Semi-Annual Interest
September 30, 2024 Maturity Date Rate Rate Payment Dates Conversion Rate Conversion Price
February 15;
2026 Notes August 15, 2026 0.25 % 0.78 % August 15 51.9926 $ 19.23

The 2026 Notes will be convertible at the option of the holders before February 15, 2026 only upon the occurrence of certain events. Beginning on
August 20, 2024, the Company has the option to redeem the 2026 Notes upon meeting certain conditions related to price of the Company's common stock.
Beginning on February 15, 2026 and until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, the 2026
Notes are convertible at any time at election of each holder. The conversion rate and conversion price are subject to customary adjustments under certain
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circumstances. In addition, if certain corporate events that constitute a make-whole fundamental change occur, then the conversion rate will be adjusted in
accordance with the make-whole table within the Indenture. Upon conversion, the Company may satisfy its obligation by paying cash for the outstanding
principal balance, and, a combination of cash and the Company's common stock, at the Company's election, for the remaining amount, if any, based on the
applicable conversion rate.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company entered into separate, privately negotiated transactions to repurchase a portion of the
outstanding 2026 Notes (“Repurchased 2026 Notes”). The holders of the Repurchased 2026 Notes exchanged $597 million in aggregate principal amount
for aggregate payments of $360 million in cash for full settlement of the principal value and accrued interest on such date. The Company accounted for the
repurchase as a debt extinguishment. Accordingly, the Company: (i) reduced the carrying value of the Repurchased 2026 Notes by $597 million, (ii)
reduced outstanding deferred issuance costs by $10 million, (iii) incurred fees of $2 million and (iv) recorded $225 million of gain on debt extinguishment.
The Company elected to leave the Capped Calls associated with the Repurchased 2026 Notes outstanding.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, total interest expense on the Company's convertible senior notes was $1 million and $2
million, respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, total interest expense on the Company's convertible senior notes was
$1 million and $4 million, respectively.
Capped Calls

In August 2021, in connection with the issuance of the 2026 Notes, the Company purchased capped calls (the “Capped Calls”) from certain financial
institutions at a cost of $119 million. The Capped Calls cover, subject to customary adjustments, the number of shares of the Company's common stock
underlying the 2026 Notes. By entering into the Capped Calls, the Company expects to reduce the potential dilution to its common stock (or, in the event of
a conversion of the 2026 Notes settled in cash, to reduce its cash payment obligation) in the event that at the time of conversion of the 2026 Notes its
common stock price exceeds the conversion price. The Capped Calls have an initial strike price of $19.23 per share and an initial cap price of $29.59 per
share or a cap price premium of 100%.
6. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

The Company uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and liabilities and to determine fair value disclosures.

Following is a discussion of the fair value hierarchy and the valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a
recurring and nonrecurring basis and for estimating fair value for financial instruments not recorded at fair value.

Fair Value Hierarchy

Fair value measurements of assets and liabilities are categorized based on the following hierarchy:

Level 1 — Fair value determined based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Fair value determined using significant observable inputs, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities or quoted prices for
identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, or inputs

that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data, by correlation or other means.

Level 3 — Fair value determined using significant unobservable inputs, such as pricing models, discounted cash flows, or similar techniques.
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Estimation of Fair Value

The following table summarizes the fair value measurement methodologies, including significant inputs and assumptions, and classification of the
Company’s assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis.

Valuation Methodology, Inputs and

Asset/Liability Class Assumptions

Marketable securities

Classification

Debt securities Prices obtained from third-party vendors that
compile prices from various sources and often
apply matrix pricing for similar securities when no

price is observable.

Level 2 recurring fair value measurement.

Equity securities Price is quoted given the securities are traded on

an exchange.

Level 1 recurring fair value measurement.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
The following tables present the levels of the fair value hierarchy for the Company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in millions):

Balance at Fair
September 30, 2024 Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Marketable securities:
Equity securities 8 8 — —

Total assets $ 8 3 8 $ — 3 —

Balance at Fair
December 31, 2023 Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Marketable securities:

Corporate debt securities $ 54§ $ 54§ —
Equity securities 15 15 — —
Total assets $ 69 § 15 8 54§ —

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following presents the carrying value, estimated fair value and the levels of the fair value hierarchy for the Company’s financial instruments other
than assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in millions):

September 30, 2024
Carrying
Value Fair Value Level 1 Level 2

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 829 829 § 829 § —

Restricted cash 225 225 225 —
Liabilities:

Non-recourse asset-backed debt — current portion $ 643 639 § — 8 639

Non-recourse asset-backed debt — net of current portion 1,491 1,443 — 1,443

Convertible senior notes 377 320 — 320
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December 31, 2023
Carrying
Value Fair Value Level 1 Level 2

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 999 § 999 § 999 $ —

Restricted cash 541 541 541 —
Liabilities:

Non-recourse asset-backed debt — net of current portion 2,134 2,150 — 2,150

Convertible senior notes 376 296 — 296

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, consisted of the following (in millions):

September 30, December 31,
2024 2023
Internally developed software $ 116 $ 124
Computers 9 12
Security systems 6 19
Office equipment 2 3
Furniture and fixtures 2 2
Leasehold improvements 2 2
Software implementation costs 1 4
Total 138 166
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (79) (100)
Property and equipment — net $ 59§ 66
Depreciation and amortization expense of $7 million and $25 million was recorded for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024,
respectively. Depreciation and amortization expense of $8 million and $27 million was recorded for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023,
respectively.
8. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no additions to goodwill. No impairment of
goodwill was identified for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023.
Intangible assets subject to amortization consisted of the following as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively (in millions,
except years):
Gross Net Remaining Weighted
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Average Useful Life
September 30, 2024 Amount Amortization Amount (Years)
Developed technology $ 9 8 © $ — 0.0
Customer relationships 7 (7 — 0.0
Trademarks 5 5) — 0.0
Intangible assets — net $ 21§ (21) $ —
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Net Remaining Weighted
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Average Useful Life
December 31, 2023 Amount Amortization Amount (Years)
Developed technology 13) § 0.8
Customer relationships (6) 0.7
Trademarks 5) — 0.7
Intangible assets —net (24) §

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $1 million and $4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively.
Amortization expense for intangible assets was $2 million and $5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively.

9. SHARE-BASED AWARDS

Stock options and RSUs

Option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant.

A summary of the stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, is as follows:

Balance-December 31, 2023
Exercised

Expired

Balance-September 30, 2024
Exercisable-September 30, 2024

A summary of the RSU activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, is as follows:

Unvested and outstanding-December 31, 2023
Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Unvested and outstanding-September 30, 2024

Restricted Shares

The Company has granted Restricted Shares to certain continuing employees, primarily in connection with acquisitions.
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Weighted-
Average Aggregate
Number of Remaining Intrinsic
Options Contractual Value
(in thousands) Term (in years) (in millions)
2.44 33 $ 16
1.05
2.72
2.51 2.6 $ 3
2.51 2.6 $ 3
‘Weighted-
Number of Average
RSUs Grant-Date
(in thousands) Fair Value
60,896 $ 4.05
25,283 2.60
(30,729) 3.93
(9,606) 4.43
45,844 § 3.25
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ESPP

The first offering period for the Company's 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”’) began on March 1, 2022. ESPP employee payroll
contributions withheld as of September 30, 2024 were $0.4 million and are included within Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities in the condensed
consolidated balance sheets. Payroll contributions withheld as of September 30, 2024 will be used to purchase shares at the end of the current ESPP
purchase period ending on
February 28, 2025.

The fair value of ESPP purchase rights is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing valuation model. The following
assumptions were applied in the model to estimate the grant-date fair value of the ESPP.

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2024

Fair value $0.83 - $1.56
Volatility 88.7% - 121.1%
Risk-free rate 4.35% -5.27%
Expected life (in years) 0.5-1.0
Expected dividend $—

As of September 30, 2024, total estimated unrecognized compensation expense related to the ESPP was $3 million. The unamortized compensation
costs are expected to be recognized over the remaining term of the offering period of 0.7 years.

Stock-based compensation expense
Stock-based compensation expense is allocated based on the cost center to which the award holder belongs. The following table summarizes total

stock-based compensation expense by function as presented in the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023 (in millions):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
General and administrative $ 16 § 15 8 49 8 47
Sales, marketing and operations 2 4 11 12
Technology and development 7 12 31 35
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 25§ 31§ 91 § 94

As of September 30, 2024, there was $119 million of unamortized stock-based compensation costs related to unvested RSUs. The unamortized
compensation costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.8 years.

10. WARRANTS
Marketing Warrants

On July 28, 2022, the Company entered into a warrant agreement with Zillow, Inc. (“Zillow”) in connection with a partnership arrangement that
allows for Zillow to purchase up to 6 million shares of common stock that will vest in tranches (each, a “Tranche”) upon Zillow providing resale marketing
services to the Company. As of September 30, 2024, no warrant shares had vested.

11. INCOME TAXES

The Company's tax provision and the resulting effective tax rate for interim periods is determined based upon its estimated annual effective tax rate
adjusted for the effect of discrete items arising in that quarter.
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The Company’s provision for income taxes, which consisted of state taxes in the United States and foreign income taxes in Canada and India was
nominal and $1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, with an effective tax rate of (0.38)% and (0.39)%,
respectively. The Company's provision for income taxes was nominal and $1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively,
with an effective tax rate of (0.09)% and (0.38)%, respectively. The effective tax rate differs from the U.S. statutory tax rate primarily due to the recording
of a full valuation allowance against the net deferred tax assets.

The Company evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the realizability of its deferred tax assets by jurisdiction. Based on the
Company’s history of operating losses, including a three-year cumulative loss position, the Company believes that based on the weight of available
evidence, it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax assets in the U.S. will not be realized and recorded a full valuation allowance of its federal
and state net deferred tax assets as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

In December 2021, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion Profit Shifting released
Model Global Anti-Base Erosion rules (“Model Rules”) under Pillar Two. The Model Rules set forth the “common approach” for a Global Minimum Tax at
15 percent for multinational enterprises with a turnover of more than 750 million Euros. Rules under Pillar Two were effective from January 1, 2024. The
Company does not expect adoption of Pillar Two rules to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements during fiscal year 2024.

12. NET LOSS PER SHARE

Basic net loss per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net
loss per share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the effect of dilutive potential common shares
outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method. During the periods when there is a net loss, potentially dilutive common stock equivalents
have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share as their effect is anti-dilutive. No dividends were declared or paid for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2024 or 2023.

The Company uses the two-class method to calculate net loss per share and apply the more dilutive of the two-class method, treasury stock method or
if-converted method to calculate diluted net loss per share. Undistributed earnings for each period are allocated to participating securities, based on the
contractual participation rights of the security to share in the current earnings as if all current period earnings had been distributed. As there is no
contractual obligation for participating securities to share in losses, the Company’s basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable
to common shareholders by the weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding during periods with undistributed losses.

The following table sets forth the computation of the Company’s basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common shareholders for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 (in millions, except share amounts which are presented in thousands, and per share amounts):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023

Basic and diluted net loss per share:
Numerator:

Net loss $ 78 $ (106) $ 279 § (184)
Denominator:

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic and diluted 705,359 662,149 693,796 651,939
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ 0.11) $ 0.16) $ (0.40) $ (0.28)

There were no preferred dividends declared or accumulated for the periods presented.
For both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, 55,711 thousand shares were not included in the computation of diluted shares

outstanding because the effect would be anti-dilutive, or issuance of such shares is contingent upon the satisfaction of certain conditions which were not
satisfied by the end of the period. For both the three and nine months
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ended September 30, 2023, 70,800 thousand shares were not included in the computation of diluted shares outstanding because the effect would be anti-
dilutive, or issuance of such shares is contingent upon the satisfaction of certain conditions which were not satisfied by the end of the period.

13. DECONSOLIDATION

On July 31, 2024, a consolidated subsidiary of the Company, Mainstay Labs Inc. (“Mainstay”), formerly Open Exchange Labs Inc., issued its Series
A Preferred Stock to third-party investors (the “Private Investment”). Mainstay is a market intelligence and transaction platform for the single-family rental
industry. As a result of the Private Investment, the Company no longer had a controlling financial interest in Mainstay in accordance with ASC Topic 810,
Consolidation, and Mainstay was deconsolidated from the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements as of July 31, 2024 (the
“Deconsolidation”). The Company determined that the Deconsolidation does not meet the criteria requiring presentation as discontinued operations in
accordance with U.S. GAAP because it does not represent a strategic shift that will have a major effect on the Company’s operations or financial results.

Upon Deconsolidation, the Company recognized a $14 million gain in Other income — net in the condensed consolidated statement of operations
during the three months ended September 30, 2024, which represented the fair value of the Company’s retained interest in Mainstay less the carrying value
of Mainstay’s net assets and the Company’s liabilities due to Mainstay as of July 31, 2024. The Company’s retained interest in Mainstay as of July 31, 2024
was recognized as a non-marketable equity security investment under ASC 321, Investment — Equity Securities. As of September 30, 2024, the fair value of
the retained interest in Mainstay was $39 million, which is presented in Other assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The fair value was
calculated using the option pricing method utilizing a back-solve methodology to infer the total equity value based on the pricing of the Private Investment.
See “Part Il — Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Note 1. Description of Business and
Accounting Policies — Investments” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

See “Note 14— Related Parties” for further information on the Company’s ongoing relationship and transactions with Mainstay.
14. RELATED PARTIES

As a result of the Company’s continued investment in Mainstay, transactions between the Company and Mainstay subsequent to the Deconsolidation
are considered to be related-party transactions. Prior to the Deconsolidation, transactions between Mainstay and Opendoor were eliminated upon
consolidation.

Subsequent to the Deconsolidation:

* Mainstay will provide property tax compliance services (‘“Property Tax Services”) and brokerage services (“Brokerage Services”) to the Company
in the normal course of business, which were nominal for the three months ended September 30, 2024.

* The Company will provide certain transition administrative services for a limited period of time to Mainstay (“Transition Services”) which will be
paid on a quarterly basis in arrears, in the form of Mainstay Series A Preferred Stock at the original Series A Preferred Stock issuance price.
Services provided for the three months ended September 30, 2024 were immaterial.

* The Company has no compensation arrangements with the management of Mainstay who are responsible for directing the activities that most
significantly impact the economics of Mainstay (“Mainstay Management”). As of the Deconsolidation, outstanding Opendoor RSUs held by
Mainstay employees, other than Mainstay Management, were modified so that the service-based vesting requirement will be satisfied as long as
the Mainstay employee continues to provide services to Mainstay (“Post Deconsolidation RSUs”). During the three months ended September 30,
2024, subsequent to Deconsolidation, 342,596 shares of common stock were issued to Mainstay employees for the settlement of RSUs, net of
shares withheld for participant taxes. As of September 30, 2024, 1,660,362 RSUs remained unvested and outstanding.
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* The Company is continuing to pay for the bonuses of certain Mainstay employees, other than Mainstay Management, through November 2025
(“Post Deconsolidation Bonuses™). Amounts paid during, and due as of, the three months ended September 30, 2024 were immaterial.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Lease Commitments

In May 2023, the Company amended its Tempe, Arizona office lease to partially terminate the Company’s obligation with respect to a portion of the
leased premises (“Partial Lease Termination”). The Partial Lease Termination resulted in a decrease of undiscounted, future lease payments of $19 million.
As a result of the Partial Lease Termination, the Company remeasured its operating lease liabilities and recorded a decrease of $10 million to reflect the
reduced lease payments and termination penalties. The Company also recorded a decrease to right-of-use assets of $9 million based on the proportionate
decrease in the right-of-use asset, which resulted in a gain of $1 million recognized in general and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of
operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2023.

Legal Matters

From time to time, the Company may be subject to potential liability relating to the ownership and operations of the Company’s properties. Accruals
are recorded when the outcome is probable and can be reasonably estimated.

There are various claims and lawsuits arising in the normal course of business pending against the Company, some of which seek damages and other
relief which, if granted, may require future cash expenditures. In addition, from time to time the Company receives inquiries and audit requests from
various government agencies and fully cooperates with these requests. The Company does not believe that it is reasonably possible that the resolution of
these matters would result in any liability that would materially affect the Company’s condensed consolidated results of operations or financial condition
except as noted below.

On October 7, 2022 and November 22, 2022, purported securities class action lawsuits were filed in the United States District Court for the District of
Arizona, captioned Alich v. Opendoor Technologies Inc., et al. (Case No. 2:22-cv-01717-JFM) (“Alich”) and Oakland County Voluntary Employee's
Beneficiary Association, et al. v. Opendoor Technologies Inc., et al. (Case No. 2:22-cv-01987-GMS) (“Oakland County”), respectively. The lawsuits were
consolidated into a single action, captioned In re Opendoor Technologies Inc. Securities Litigation (Case No. 2:22-CV-01717-MTL). The consolidated
amended complaint names as defendants the Company, Social Capital Hedosophia Holdings Corp. II (SCH"), certain of the Company’s current and former
officers and directors and the underwriters of a securities offering the Company made in February 2021. The complaint alleges that the Company and
certain officers violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 10b-5, and that the Company, SCH, certain officers and directors and the
underwriters violated Section 11 of the Securities Act, in each case by making materially false or misleading statements related to the effectiveness of the
Company’s pricing algorithm. The plaintiffs also allege that certain defendants violated Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Section 15 of the Securities
Act, respectively, which provide for control person liability. The complaint asserts claims on behalf of all persons and entities that purchased, or otherwise
acquired, Company common stock between December 21, 2020 and November 3, 2022 or pursuant to offering documents issued in connection with our
business combination with SCH and the secondary public offering conducted by the Company in February 2021. The plaintiffs seek class certification, an
award of unspecified compensatory damages, an award of interest and reasonable costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and expert fees, and other
and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. The defendants filed motions to dismiss on June 30, 2023, which the court granted on February 27,
2024 without prejudice. On May 14, 2024, the court granted plaintiffs’ motion for reconsideration of certain portions of the court’s order dismissing the
complaint. The court’s orders on the motion to dismiss and motion for reconsideration dismissed all Exchange Act claims and Securities Act claims except
for a portion of plaintiffs’ claims brought under Section 11 and Section 15 of the Securities Act. Defendants filed answers to the complaint on July 12,
2024. The Company continues to believe that the allegations in the complaint are without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself in the matter.

On March 1, 2023 and March 15, 2023, shareholder derivative lawsuits were filed in the United States District Court for the District of Arizona,

captioned Carlson v. Rice, et al. (Case No. 2:23-cv-00367-GMS) and Van Dorn v. Wu, et al. (Case No. 2:23-cv-00455-DMF), respectively, which were
subsequently consolidated into a single action, captioned Carison v. Rice
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(Case No. 2:23-CV-00367-GMYS). Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed the matter on June 22, 2023, and thereafter re-filed complaints in the Court of Chancery
of the State of Delaware, captioned Carlson v. Rice, et al. (Case No. 2023-0642) and Van Dorn v. Rice, et al. (Case No. 2023-0643). The cases have been
consolidated into a single action, captioned Opendoor Technologies Inc. Stockholder Derivative Litigation (Case No. 2023-0642). On June 29, 2023, a
shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, captioned Juul v. Wu, et al. (Case No. 1:23-cv-
00705-UNA). The complaints in each matter are based on the same facts and circumstances as In re Opendoor Technologies Inc. Securities Litigation and
name certain officers and directors of the Company as defendants. The defendants are alleged to have violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and SEC
Rule 10b-5 and breached fiduciary duties. The plaintiffs seek to maintain the derivative actions on behalf of the Company, an award of unspecified
compensatory damages, an order directing the Company to reform its corporate governance and internal procedures, restitutionary relief, an award of
interest and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and expert fees, and other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. These derivative actions
have been stayed pending further developments in In re Opendoor Technologies Inc. Securities Litigation.

On October 13, 2023, a shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, captioned Woods, et
al. v. Bain, et al. (Case No. 1:23-cv-01158-UNA). The complaint is based on facts and circumstances related to /n re Opendoor Technologies Inc. Securities
Litigation. The plaintiffs have brought claims against certain current and former directors and officers of the Company for breach of fiduciary duty,
contribution under Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Exchange Act, SEC Rule 10b-5, violations of Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act, and SEC Rule 14a-9
promulgated thereunder. The plaintiffs seek to maintain the derivative action on behalf of the Company, an award of unspecified compensatory damages, an
order directing one of the defendants to disgorge monies allegedly obtained from certain personal sales of Company stock, equitable relief, an award of
interest and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and expert fees, and other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. This derivative action
has been stayed pending further developments in In re Opendoor Technologies Inc. Securities Litigation.

On October 18, 2023, a shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the District of Arizona, captioned Gera v.
Palihapitiya, et al. (Case No. 2:23-cv-02164-SMB). The complaint is based on facts and circumstances related to /n re Opendoor Technologies Inc.
Securities Litigation, and names as defendants certain current and former officers and directors of the Company and SCH Sponsor II LLC. The complaint
alleges that the defendants violated Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act, and SEC Rule 14a-9 promulgated thereunder. The plaintiff seeks to maintain the
derivative action on behalf of the Company, an award of unspecified compensatory damages, an order directing the Company to reform certain corporate
governance and internal procedures, restitution, an award of cost and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and expert fees, and other and further relief as the
court may deem just and proper. The defendants filed motions to dismiss on February 8, 2024, which were granted without prejudice on August 14, 2024,
and the plaintiff filed an amended complaint on September 12, 2024. On October 28, 2024, the defendants filed motions to dismiss the complaint, which
are pending before the court.

16. RESTRUCTURING

In 2023, the Company initiated workforce reductions, impacting approximately 680 employees. The Company provided severance and other
termination benefits (“Post-Employment Benefits™) to impacted employees.

The following table presents the activity of the restructuring liability as of September 30, 2024 (in millions):

September 30,
2024
Balance-December 31, 2023 $ 3
Additions charged to expense —
Cash payments (3)

Balance- September 30, 2024 $ —

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On November 7, 2024, the Company announced a workforce reduction of approximately 300 employees, representing 17% of its workforce at that

time, as part of an organizational transformation aimed at prioritizing strategic growth initiatives, flattening reporting structures, and driving efficiencies.
The Company is providing post-employment benefits to impacted
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employees for a total cash cost of approximately $9 million. The Company expects to incur an additional $8 million in expenses associated with activities
related to the Company’s cost reduction efforts. The Company expects the expense will be substantially recognized during the three months ended
December 31, 2024 and paid primarily in the same period, with remaining payments expected to be made through March 31, 2025.

seskokokskokok
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis provides information that our management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our
condensed consolidated results of operations and financial condition. The discussion should be read together with the historical condensed consolidated
financial statements and related notes that appear in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

This discussion may contain forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may
differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under “Forward-
Looking Statements,” “Risk Factors,” or in other parts of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and in “Part I - Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 (the “Annual Report”).

Overview

Opendoor’s mission is to power life’s progress, one move at a time. Residential real estate is a trillion-dollar industry underpinned by a process that is
complicated, time-consuming, stressful, and offline. We believe all consumers deserve to buy, sell, and move between homes with simplicity and
confidence, and we have dedicated almost a decade to delivering on this vision. We have built unique pricing and operations capabilities to become one of
the largest buyers and sellers of homes in the United States. Since our founding, we have helped customers to buy or sell homes in over 269,000
transactions and have expanded our footprint to 50 markets across the country.

Financial Highlights and Operating Metrics

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

(in millions, except percentages, homes purchased,
homes sold, number of markets, and homes in
inventory) 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change
Revenue $ 1,377 $ 980 $ 397 $ 4,069 $ 6,076 $ (2,007)
Gross profit $ 105 $ 96 $ 9 9 348 $ 415 $ (67)
Gross margin 7.6 % 9.8 % 8.6 % 6.8 %
Net loss $ 78) $ (106) $ 28 $ 279 S (184) 3 (95)
Number of markets (at period end) 50 53 3) 50 53 3)
Homes sold 3,615 2,687 928 10,771 16,344 (5,573)
Homes purchased 3,504 3,136 368 11,733 7,563 4,170
Homes in inventory (at period end) 6,288 4,007 2,281 6,288 4,007 2,281
Inventory (at period end) $ 2,145  $ 1,311 $ 834 § 2,145  $ 1,311 $ 834
Percentage of homes “on the market” for
greater than 120 days (at period end) 23 % 12 % 23 % 12 %
Non-GAAP Financial Highlights ("
Contribution Profit (Loss) $ 52 $ 43 $ 9 9 204 S 288) $ 492
Contribution Margin 3.8% 4.4 % 5.0 % “4.7)%
Adjusted EBITDA $ 38 3 49 S 11 $ 93 3 (558) $ 465
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 2.8)% (5.0)% 2.3)% 9.2)%
Adjusted Net Loss $ (70) S (75) % 593 (181) S 681) $ 500

M See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for further details and a reconciliation of such non-GAAP measures to their nearest comparable GAAP
measures.
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Current Housing Environment

The housing market remains under pressure as elevated mortgage rates and economic volatility continue to shape the landscape. During the three
months ended September 30, 2024, mortgage rates showed some relief, with the average rate falling from 7.1% to 6.1% over the course of the quarter.
However, this downward trend was short-lived, with mortgage rates partially rebounding in October 2024. This rebound occurred despite the Federal
Reserve’s 50 basis point cut in September 2024, as stronger-than-expected jobs data caused the market to reassess the trajectory of future rate cuts, and
fiscal spending uncertainty also pushed treasury yields higher.

Homeowners remain locked into existing low-rate mortgages and home buyers continue to face affordability constraints. This dynamic has translated
to a seasonally adjusted annual sales pace of under 4 million homes, as compared to the decade average of over 5 million homes. Continued slowing of
resale clearance (the pace at which listed homes enter into a resale contract) has led month-over-month home price appreciation (“HPA”) to trend below
historical norms. In addition, the sustained high level of delistings, now at more than 1 delisting for every 4 resales, highlights the ongoing disconnect
between sellers’ price expectations and buyers’ willingness to pay.

In this environment, we maintain a flexible approach, dynamically managing pricing strategies to navigate the complex trade-offs of growth, margin,
and risk. We aim to stay nimble and capitalize on potential shifts, particularly if macroeconomic conditions become more favorable or if interest rates move
lower.

Factors Affecting our Business Performance
Market Penetration in Existing Markets

Residential real estate is one of the largest consumer markets in the United States, of which less than 1% of the estimated $1.6 trillion of home value
transacted annually is conducted online. Given the fact that we operate in a highly fragmented industry and offer a differentiated value proposition to the
traditional offline selling process, we believe there is significant opportunity to expand our share in our existing markets. By providing a consistent, high-
quality and differentiated experience to our customers, we hope to continue to drive positive word-of-mouth awareness and trust in our platform.

We are steadily growing our reach via our partnership channels with homebuilders, agents, and online real estate platforms. We have relationships
with two of the largest online real estate platforms, Zillow and Redfin, which together reach millions of unique monthly visitors. We launched our
partnership agreement with Zillow, Inc. in early 2023, allowing home sellers on the Zillow, Inc. platform to request an offer directly from Opendoor. We
also have a partnership with eXp Realty, the largest independent real estate company in the world, which enables eXp Realty’s agents to easily request an
Opendoor cash offer on qualifying properties to present alongside the option of a market listing for their client’s home. In addition to driving incremental
acquisitions, we expect these partnerships to build our brand awareness and serve as additional avenues for sellers to learn about the benefits of our flagship
cash offer.

A continued source of growth is re-engagement with our base of registered sellers, meaning sellers that have received an offer from Opendoor but
have not yet sold their home. In the last ten years, we have sent millions of offers and, while not everyone is ready to act when they request an offer, we
treat everyone as a potential future seller. We perpetually iterate on our reengagement strategies and believe that our registered customer base will continue
to be an important source of home acquisition volumes.

Market Footprint

The following table represents the number of markets we operated in as of the periods presented:

September 30, June 30, March 31, Year Ended December 31,
(in whole numbers) 2024 2024 2024 2023 2022 2021
Number of markets (at period end) 50 50 50 50 53 44

Due to the deteriorating macro environment in 2022 and 2023, we slowed down our new market expansion plans and are focused on expanding our
share in our existing markets.
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Adjacent Services

We believe home sellers and buyers value simplicity and certainty. To that end, we are building an online, integrated suite of home services, which
currently includes title insurance, escrow services and real estate brokerage services.

Our success with title insurance and escrow services helps validate our view that customers prefer an online, integrated experience. We will continue
to evaluate new ways to improve our end-to-end solution and expect to invest in additional adjacent products and services over time with the expectation
that these adjacent services will continue to improve our unit economics.

Unit Economics

We view Contribution Margin as a key measure of unit economic performance. Contribution Margin is a non-GAAP financial measure. See “—Non-
GAAP Financial Measures” for further details and a reconciliation of Contribution Margin to Gross Margin. Our long-term financial performance depends,
in part, on continuing to maintain and expand unit margins through the following initiatives:

*  Optimization and enhancements of our pricing engine;
+  Platform efficiency improvements through greater automation and self-service;
* Incremental attach of services, which supplement the core transaction margin profile; and

«  Expansion of our listing and marketplace product offerings, which will reduce our inventory exposure and capital intensity, and eliminate the
holding and selling costs associated with taking ownership of the home.

Inventory Management

Effectively managing our overall inventory position and balancing growth, margin, and risk are critical to our financial performance. Since our
inception, we have prioritized investment in our pricing capabilities across our home acquisition processes and our forecasting and resale systems, and will
continue to do so. As part of our overall risk management framework, we consider both individual market and aggregate portfolio exposures. We typically
seek to maximize the resale margin performance of our inventory in the context of managing overall risk and inventory health through monitoring sell-
through rates, holding periods, and portfolio aging, and we will adjust down listed prices on our inventory when appropriate to stay in-line with market sell-
through rates and drive resale clearance. We also adjust the spreads embedded in our offers to respond to current market conditions, both at a macro and
local level. (Spreads are defined as total discount to our home valuation at time of offer less the Opendoor service fee of 5%.)

Real estate inventory is reviewed for valuation adjustments on a quarterly basis. If the carrying amount for a given home is not expected to be
recovered, an inventory valuation adjustment is recorded to cost of revenue and the home’s carrying value is adjusted to its net realizable value. Inventory
valuation adjustments are not offset by any expected gains and are not reversed or adjusted should the expected net realizable value subsequently increase.
We recorded inventory valuation adjustments of $10 million and $51 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, and
$17 million and $54 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively. See “Part Il — Item 7. Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — Real Estate Inventory” in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

As one key measure of inventory management performance, we evaluate our portfolio metrics relative to the broader market (as observed on the
MLS). One such metric is our percentage of homes “on the market” for greater than 120 days as measured from initial listing date. As of September 30,
2024, such homes represented 23% of our portfolio, compared to 18% for the broader market when filtered for the types of homes we are able to
underwrite and acquire in a given market based on characteristics such as price range, home type, home location, year built and lot size (which we refer to
as our “buybox”).

Inventory Financing

Our business model is working capital intensive and inventory financing is a key enabler of our growth. We primarily rely on our access to non-
recourse asset-backed debt, which consists of asset-backed senior debt facilities and asset-backed
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mezzanine term debt facilities, to finance our home acquisitions. See “—Liquidity and Capital Resources — Debt and Financing Arrangements.”
Seasonality

The residential real estate market is seasonal, with greater demand and home price appreciation from home buyers in the spring and summer, and
typically weaker demand and lower home price appreciation in late fall and winter. In general, we expect our financial results and working capital
requirements to reflect seasonal variations over time. However, other factors, including growth, market expansion and changes in macroeconomic
conditions, such as rising inflation and interest rate increases as recently observed, have obscured the impact of seasonality in our historical financials and
we expect may continue to do so.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our results of operations below, we report certain financial measures that are not required by, or presented in accordance with, U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).

These measures have limitations as analytical tools when assessing our operating performance and should not be considered in isolation or as a
substitute for GAAP measures, including gross profit and net loss. We may calculate or present our non-GAAP financial measures differently than other
companies who report measures with similar titles and, as a result, the non-GAAP financial measures we report may not be comparable with those of
companies in our industry or in other industries.

Adjusted Gross Profit (Loss) and Contribution Profit (Loss)

To provide investors with additional information regarding our margins and return on inventory acquired, we have included Adjusted Gross Profit
(Loss) and Contribution Profit (Loss), which are non-GAAP financial measures. We believe that Adjusted Gross Profit (Loss) and Contribution Profit
(Loss) are useful financial measures for investors as they are supplemental measures used by management in evaluating unit level economics and our
operating performance. Each of these measures is intended to present the economics related to homes sold during a given period. We do so by including
revenue generated from homes sold (and adjacent services) in the period and only the expenses that are directly attributable to such home sales, even if
such expenses were recognized in prior periods, and excluding expenses related to homes that remain in inventory as of the end of the period. Contribution
Profit (Loss) provides investors a measure to assess Opendoor’s ability to generate returns on homes sold during a reporting period after considering home
purchase costs, renovation and repair costs, holding costs and selling costs.

Adjusted Gross Profit (Loss) and Contribution Profit (Loss) are supplemental measures of our operating performance and have limitations as
analytical tools. For example, these measures include costs that were recorded in prior periods under GAAP and exclude, in connection with homes held in
inventory at the end of the period, costs required to be recorded under GAAP in the same period. Accordingly, these measures should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. We include a reconciliation of these measures to the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measure, which is gross profit.

Adjusted Gross Profit (Loss) / Margin

We calculate Adjusted Gross Profit (Loss) as gross profit under GAAP adjusted for (1) inventory valuation adjustment in the current period, and (2)
inventory valuation adjustment in prior periods. Inventory valuation adjustment in the current period is calculated by adding back the inventory valuation
adjustments recorded during the period on homes that remain in inventory at period end. Inventory valuation adjustment in prior periods is calculated by
subtracting the inventory valuation adjustments recorded in prior periods on homes sold in the current period. Adjusted Gross Margin is Adjusted Gross
Profit (Loss) as a percentage of revenue.

We view this metric as an important measure of business performance as it captures gross margin performance isolated to homes sold in a given

period and provides comparability across reporting periods. Adjusted Gross Profit (Loss) helps management assess home pricing, service fees and
renovation performance for a specific resale cohort.
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Contribution Profit (Loss) / Margin

We calculate Contribution Profit (Loss) as Adjusted Gross Profit (Loss), minus certain costs incurred on homes sold during the current period
including: (1) holding costs incurred in the current period, (2) holding costs incurred in prior periods, and (3) direct selling costs. The composition of our
holding costs is described in the footnotes to the reconciliation table below. Contribution Margin is Contribution Profit (Loss) as a percentage of revenue.

We view this metric as an important measure of business performance as it captures the unit level performance isolated to homes sold in a given
period and provides comparability across reporting periods. Contribution Profit (Loss) helps management assess inflows and outflows directly associated
with a specific resale cohort.

The following table presents a reconciliation of our Adjusted Gross Profit (Loss) and Contribution Profit (Loss) to our gross profit, which is the most
directly comparable GAAP measure, for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

(in millions, except percentages) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Revenue (GAAP) $ 1,377 $ 980 $ 4,069 $ 6,076
Gross profit (GAAP) $ 105 $ 96 $ 348 $ 415
Gross Margin 7.6 % 9.8 % 8.6 % 6.8 %
Adjustments:

Inventory valuation adjustment — Current PeriodV® 10 17 33 24

Inventory valuation adjustment — Prior PeriodsV® (16) (29) (24) (450)
Adjusted Gross Profit (Loss) $ 99 $ 84 $ 357 $ (11)
Adjusted Gross Margin 7.2 % 8.6 % 8.8 % 0.2)%
Adjustments:

Direct selling costs® (32) (28) (109) (171)

Holding costs on sales — Current Period®(© (6) 4) (30) 41)

Holding costs on sales — Prior Periods®”) 9 ) (14) (65)
Contribution Profit (Loss) $ 52 $ 43 $ 204 $ (288)
Contribution Margin 3.8% 4.4 % 5.0 % 4.7%

(M Inventory valuation adjustment includes adjustments to record real estate inventory at the lower of its carrying amount or its net realizable value.

@ Inventory valuation adjustment — Current Period is the inventory valuation adjustments recorded during the period presented associated with homes
that remain in inventory at period end.

& Inventory valuation adjustment — Prior Periods is the inventory valuation adjustments recorded in prior periods associated with homes that sold in the
period presented.

@ Represents selling costs incurred related to homes sold in the relevant period. This primarily includes broker commissions, external title and escrow-
related fees and transfer taxes.

' Holding costs include mainly property taxes, insurance, utilities, homeowners association dues, cleaning and maintenance costs. Holding costs are
included in Sales, marketing, and operations on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

©  Represents holding costs incurred in the period presented on homes sold in the period presented.

(™ Represents holding costs incurred in prior periods on homes sold in the period presented.
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Adjusted Net Loss and Adjusted EBITDA

We also present Adjusted Net Loss and Adjusted EBITDA, which are non-GAAP financial measures that management uses to assess our underlying
financial performance. These measures are also commonly used by investors and analysts to compare the underlying performance of companies in our
industry. We believe these measures provide investors with meaningful period over period comparisons of our underlying performance, adjusted for certain
charges that are non-cash, not directly related to our revenue-generating operations, not aligned to related revenue, or not reflective of ongoing operating
results that vary in frequency and amount.

Adjusted Net Loss and Adjusted EBITDA are supplemental measures of our operating performance and have important limitations. For example,
these measures exclude the impact of certain costs required to be recorded under GAAP. These measures also include inventory valuation adjustments that
were recorded in prior periods under GAAP and exclude, in connection with homes held in inventory at the end of the period, inventory valuation
adjustments required to be recorded under GAAP in the same period. These measures could differ substantially from similarly titled measures presented by
other companies in our industry or companies in other industries. Accordingly, these measures should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for
analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. We include a reconciliation of these measures to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure,
which is net loss.

Adjusted Net Loss

We calculate Adjusted Net Loss as GAAP net loss adjusted to exclude non-cash expenses of stock-based compensation, equity securities fair value
adjustment, and intangibles amortization expense. It excludes expenses that are not directly related to our revenue-generating operations such as
restructuring. It excludes loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt as these expenses or gains were incurred as a result of decisions made by management to
repay portions of our outstanding credit facilities and the 0.25% convertible senior notes due in 2026 (the "2026 Notes") early; these expenses are not
reflective of ongoing operating results and vary in frequency and amount. Adjusted Net Loss also aligns the timing of inventory valuation adjustments
recorded under GAAP to the period in which the related revenue is recorded in order to improve the comparability of this measure to our non-GAAP
financial measures of unit economics, as described above. Our calculation of Adjusted Net Loss does not currently include the tax effects of the non-GAAP
adjustments because our taxes and such tax effects have not been material to date.

Adjusted EBITDA / Margin
We calculated Adjusted EBITDA as Adjusted Net Loss adjusted for depreciation and amortization, property financing and other interest expense,

interest income, and income tax expense. Adjusted EBITDA is a supplemental performance measure that our management uses to assess our operating
performance and the operating leverage in our business. Adjusted EBITDA Margin is Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of our Adjusted Net Loss and Adjusted EBITDA to our net loss, which is the most directly comparable

GAAP measure, for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

(in millions, except percentages) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Revenue (GAAP) $ 1,377 $ 980 $ 4,069 $ 6,076
Net loss (GAAP) $ 78 $ (106) $ 279 $ (184)
Adjustments:

Stock-based compensation 25 31 91 94

Equity securities fair value adjustment" 3 11 7 4

Intangibles amortization expense® 1 2 4 5

Inventory valuation adjustment — Current Period®® 10 17 33 24

Inventory valuation adjustment — Prior Periods®® (16) (29) (24) (450)

Restructuring® — — — 10

Loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt — — 1 (182)

Other?” (15) @)) (14) 2
Adjusted Net Loss $ (70) $ as) 3 (181) $ (681)
Adjustments:

Depreciation and amortization, excluding amortization of

intangibles 10 9 28 30

Property financing® 30 38 88 142

Other interest expense'” 4 9 13 32

Interest income!? (12) 30) (42) (82)

Income tax expense — — 1 1
Adjusted EBITDA $ 38 3 49 S ©3) S (558)
Adjusted EBITDA Margin (2.8)% (5.00% (2.3)% 9.2)%

(O]

2)

3)

“)

®)

©6)

(G

®)

©)

Represents the gains and losses on certain financial instruments, which are marked to fair value at the end of each period.

Represents amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets. The acquired intangible assets have useful lives ranging from 1 to 5 years and
amortization is expected until the intangible assets are fully amortized.

Inventory valuation adjustment includes adjustments to record real estate inventory at the lower of its carrying amount or its net realizable value.

Inventory valuation adjustment — Current Period is the inventory valuation adjustments recorded during the period presented associated with homes
that remain in inventory at period end.

Inventory valuation adjustment — Prior Periods is the inventory valuation adjustments recorded in prior periods associated with homes that sold in the
period presented.

Restructuring costs consist primarily of severance and employee termination benefits and bonuses incurred in connection with employees’ roles being
eliminated.

Includes primarily gain on deconsolidation, net, sublease income, and income from equity method investments.
Includes interest expense on our non-recourse asset-backed debt facilities.

Includes amortization of debt issuance costs and loan origination fees, commitment fees, unused fees, other interest related costs on our asset-backed
debt facilities, and interest expense related to the 2026 Notes outstanding.

(9" Consists mainly of interest earned on cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities.
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Components of Our Results of Operations
Revenue

We generate the majority of our revenue from the sale of homes that we previously acquired from homeowners. In addition, we generate revenue
from additional services we provide to both home sellers and buyers, which consists primarily of title insurance and escrow services and brokerage
services.

Home sales revenue from selling residential real estate is recognized when title to and possession of the property has transferred to the buyer and we
have no continuing involvement with the property, which is generally the close of escrow. The amount of revenue recognized for each home sale is equal to
the sale price of the home net of any concessions.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue includes the property purchase price, acquisition costs, and direct costs to renovate or repair the home. These costs are accumulated
in real estate inventory during the property holding period and charged to cost of revenue under the specific identification method when the property is
sold. Real estate inventory is reviewed for valuation adjustments at least quarterly. If the carrying amount for a given home is not expected to be recovered,
an inventory valuation adjustment is recorded to cost of revenue and the home’s carrying value is adjusted to its net realizable value. Additionally, for our
revenue other than home sales revenue, cost of revenue consists of any costs incurred in delivering the service, including associated headcount expenses
such as salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation.

Operating Expenses
Sales, Marketing and Operations Expense

Sales, marketing and operations expense consists primarily of broker commissions (paid to the home buyers’ real estate agents and third-party listing
agents, if applicable), resale closing costs, holding costs related to real estate inventory including utilities, property taxes and maintenance, and expenses
associated with product marketing, promotions and brand-building. Sales, marketing and operations expense also includes any headcount expenses in
support of sales, marketing, and real estate operations such as salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense consists primarily of headcount expenses, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation for our
executive, finance, human resources, legal and administrative personnel, third-party professional services fees and rent expense.

Technology and Development Expense

Technology and development expense consists primarily of headcount expenses, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation for
employees in the design, development, testing, maintenance and operation of our mobile applications, websites, tools, applications, and mobile apps that
support our products. Technology and development expense also includes amortization of capitalized software development costs and third-party software
and hosting costs.
Restructuring Expense

Restructuring expense consists primarily of severance and other termination benefits for employees whose roles have been eliminated.
(Loss) Gain on Extinguishment of Debt

(Loss) gain on extinguishment of debt is primarily related to the Company’s partial repurchase of the 2026 Notes at a discount net of unamortized
deferred costs associated with the 2026 Notes. (Loss) gain on extinguishment of debt also includes any gains or losses recognized in conjunction with the

termination of debt facilities, partial debt extinguishments, and unamortized deferred costs associated with these facilities. See Part [ — Item 1. Financial
Statements — Notes to Condensed
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Consolidated Financial Statements — Note 5. Credit Facilities and Long-Term Debt—Convertible Senior Notes for additional information regarding the
2026 Notes.

Interest Expense

Interest expense consists primarily of interest paid or payable and the amortization of debt discounts and debt issuance costs. Interest expense varies
period over period, primarily due to fluctuations in our inventory volumes and changes in the floating benchmark interest rates (“Benchmark Rates”), based
on the secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”), plus an applicable margin, which impact the interest incurred on our senior revolving credit facilities
(see “— Liquidity and Capital Resources — Debt and Financing Arrangements”).

We expect our overall interest expense to increase as inventory increases. Subject to market conditions and cost of capital trade-offs, we will evaluate
opportunities to expand our sources of financing over time, which may allow us to diversify our mix of financing sources to include more cost-effective
financing relative to our higher cost mezzanine term debt facilities.

Other Income — Net

Other income — net consists primarily of interest income on our Cash and Restricted cash balances and from our investment in money market funds,
time deposits, and debt securities as well as changes in fair value of, and dividend income from, our investment in equity securities, and gains from
deconsolidation.

Income Tax Expense

We record income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the
estimated future tax effects of differences between the financial statement and income tax basis of existing assets and liabilities. These differences are
measured using the enacted statutory tax rates that are expected to apply to taxable income for the years in which differences are expected to reverse. We
recognize the effect on deferred income taxes of a change in tax rates in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets and liabilities to the net amount that we believe is more likely than not to be

realized. We consider all available evidence, both positive and negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks associated with
estimates of future taxable income and ongoing tax planning strategies in assessing the need for a valuation allowance.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth our results of operations for each of the periods presented:

Three Months Ended

September 30, Change in
(in thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 $ %
Revenue $ 1,377 $ 980 $ 397 41 %
Cost of revenue 1,272 884 388 44 %
Gross profit 105 96 9 9%
Operating expenses:
Sales, marketing and operations 96 85 11 13 %
General and administrative 46 48 2) @)%
Technology and development 30 42 (12) 29)%
Restructuring — — — N/M
Total operating expenses 172 175 3) 2)%
Loss from operations 67) (79) 12 15)%
(Loss) gain on extinguishment of debt — — — N/M
Interest expense (34) 47) 13 (28)%
Other income-net 23 20 3 15 %
(Loss) income before income taxes (78) (106) 28 (26)%
Income tax expense = = = N/M
Net loss 5 (78) s (106) $ 28 (26)%
N/M - Not meaningful.

Nine Months Ended

September 30, Change in
(in thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 $ %
Revenue $ 4,069 $ 6,076 $ (2,007) (33)%
Cost of revenue 3,721 5,661 (1,940) (34)%
Gross profit 348 415 (67) (16)%
Operating expenses:
Sales, marketing and operations 325 397 (72) (18)%
General and administrative 141 158 (17) (1%
Technology and development 108 121 (13) (11)%
Restructuring — 10 (10) (100)%
Total operating expenses 574 686 (112) (16)%
Loss from operations (226) (271) 45 17 %
(Loss) gain on extinguishment of debt (1) 182 (183) N/M
Interest expense (101) (174) 73 (42)%
Other income-net 50 80 (30) (38)%
Loss before income taxes (278) (183) 95) 52 %
Income tax expense (1) (1) — — %
Net loss $ 279 $ (184) $ (95) 52 %

N/M - Not meaningful.

Revenue

Revenue increased by $397 million, or 41%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended September 30,
2023. The increase in revenue was primarily attributable to higher sales volumes in the third quarter of 2024. We sold 3,615 homes during the three months
ended September 30, 2024, compared to 2,687 homes during the three months ended September 30, 2023, representing an increase of 35%. Revenue per
home sold increased 4% between the same periods. The lower sales in 2023 reflect the Company's actions to slow inventory growth via higher spreads and
lower marketing spend during the real estate market correction beginning in the second half of 2022. Inventory levels reached a low in
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June 2023 and have been steadily rebuilding thereafter. The Company entered the third quarter of 2024 with 6,399 homes in inventory as compared to
3,558 homes in inventory at the start of the third quarter of 2023, representing an 80% increase in homes available for resale.

Revenue decreased by $2.0 billion, or 33%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2023.
The decrease in revenue was primarily attributable to lower sales volumes in the first nine months of 2024. We sold 10,771 homes during the nine months
ended September 30, 2024, compared to 16,344 homes during the nine months ended September 30, 2023, representing a decrease of 34%. Revenue per
home sold increased 2% between the same periods. The decrease in sales volumes was primarily attributable to proactively slowing inventory acquisitions
beginning in the third quarter of 2022 via higher spreads embedded in our offers in reaction to volatility in the U.S. housing market coupled with a focus on
clearing existing inventory, which had reached peak levels in 2022. The Company entered 2024 with 5,326 homes in inventory as compared to 12,788
homes in inventory at the start of 2023, representing a 58% decrease in homes available for resale.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit

Cost of revenue increased by $388 million, or 44%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2023. The increase in cost of revenue was primarily attributable to higher sales volumes and an 8% increase in cost of revenue per home,
excluding valuation adjustments on homes in inventory at period end, due to lower spreads embedded in our acquisition offers beginning in September
2023.

Cost of revenue decreased by $1.9 billion, or 34%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended September 30,
2023. The decrease in cost of revenue was primarily attributable to lower sales volumes and a 1% decrease in cost of revenue per home, excluding
valuation adjustments on homes in inventory at period end, due to the slowdown in inventory acquisition pacing as discussed above.

Gross profit increased from $96 million to $105 million and gross margin decreased from 9.8% to 7.6% for the three months ended September 30,
2023 and September 30, 2024, respectively. For the same periods, Adjusted Gross Margin decreased from 8.6% to 7.2% and Contribution Margin
decreased from 4.4% to 3.8%. The decrease in gross margin, Adjusted Gross Margin and Contribution Margin reflects lower spreads embedded in our
acquisition offers beginning in September 2023. Adjusted Gross Margin and Contribution Margin for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and
September 30, 2024 are inclusive of $29 million and $16 million of inventory valuation adjustments recorded in prior periods on homes sold in the current
period in order to reduce the carrying value of these homes to their net realizable value. Adjusted Gross Margin and Contribution Margin are non-GAAP
financial measures. See “— Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for further details and a reconciliation of such non-GAAP measures to their nearest
comparable GAAP measures.

Gross profit decreased from $415 million to $348 million and gross margin increased from 6.8% to 8.6% for the nine months ended September 30,
2023 and September 30, 2024, respectively. For the same periods, Adjusted Gross Margin increased from (0.2)% to 8.8% and Contribution Margin
increased from (4.7)% to 5.0%. The increase in gross margin, Adjusted Gross Margin and Contribution Margin reflects relative home price stabilization as
well as higher spreads embedded in our acquisition offers beginning in the third quarter of 2022. Adjusted Gross Margin and Contribution Margin for the
nine months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2024 are inclusive of $450 million and $24 million of inventory valuation adjustments recorded
in prior periods on homes sold in the current period in order to reduce the carrying value of these homes to their net realizable value. Adjusted Gross
Margin and Contribution Margin are non-GAAP financial measures. See “— Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for further details and a reconciliation of
such non-GAAP measures to their nearest comparable GAAP measures.

Operating Expenses

Sales, Marketing and Operations. Sales, marketing and operations increased by $11 million, or 13%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2023. The increase was primarily attributable to a $7 million increase in property holding costs,
consistent with increased inventory levels, and a $4 million increase in resale transaction costs and broker commissions, consistent with the 41% increase
in revenue during the same period. The increase was partially offset by a $1 million decrease in advertising expense, which decreased from $16 million for
the three months ended September 30, 2023 to $15 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024.
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Sales, marketing and operations decreased by $72 million, or 18%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months
ended September 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to a $62 million decrease in resale transaction costs and broker commissions, consistent
with the 33% decrease in revenue during the same period. In addition, for the same period, headcount expenses, including salaries and benefits, and
contingent labor expenses decreased by $13 million, which was largely attributable to workforce reductions in 2023. Advertising expense increased
$5 million, from $58 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 to $63 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024.

General and Administrative. General and administrative decreased by $2 million, or 4%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to
the three months ended September 30, 2023. The decrease was mainly attributable to a $2 million decrease in depreciation expense as we slowed our pace
of fixed assets additions and existing assets became fully depreciated.

General and administrative decreased by $17 million, or 11%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2023. The decrease was mainly attributable to a $7 million decrease in depreciation expense as we slowed our pace of fixed assets additions
and existing assets became fully depreciated. In addition, headcount expenses, including salaries and benefits, decreased $5 million primarily due to
workforce reductions in 2023. In addition, rent expense decreased by $2 million.

Technology and Development. Technology and development decreased by $12 million, or 29%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to a $11 million decrease in headcount expenses,
including salaries and benefits due to workforce reductions in 2023.

Technology and development decreased by $13 million, or 11%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to $14 million decrease in headcount expenses, including salaries and benefits due to
workforce reductions in 2023.

Restructuring. Restructuring decreased by $10 million, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2023. Restructuring expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 was attributable to the Company’s April 2023 workforce
reduction of approximately 22% of our workforce or 560 employees.

(Loss) Gain on Extinguishment of Debt

(Loss) gain on extinguishment of debt decreased by $183 million, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2023. The gain on extinguishment of debt during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 resulted from the Company’s partial
repurchase of its 2026 Notes in March and May 2023 at a discount net of unamortized deferred costs associated with the 2026 Notes, partially offset by
expenses related to partial debt extinguishments.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased by $13 million, or 28%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to a significant decrease in average balances in our non-recourse asset-backed debt, a
reduction in our weighted average interest rate as a result of a partial repayment of our outstanding mezzanine debt and a decrease in loan fees as a result of
committed debt reductions.

Interest expense decreased by $73 million, or 42%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended September 30,
2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to a significant decrease in average balances in our non-recourse asset-backed debt and a decrease in loan
fees as a result of committed debt reductions.

Other Income — Net

Other income — net increased by $3 million, or 15%, for the three months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2023.

Other income — net decreased by $30 million, or 38%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to an $8 million change in fair value
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adjustments on marketable securities and to $40 million lower interest income due to a reduction in the average cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
balances. The decrease was partially offset by the $14 million gain from the deconsolidation of Mainstay.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense changed by a nominal amount for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 compared to the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2023.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Our principal sources of liquidity have historically consisted of cash generated from our operations and from financing activities. As of September 30,
2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of $829 million, restricted cash of $225 million, and marketable securities of $8 million. The decrease in our cash,
cash equivalents and marketable securities balance of $231 million as compared to December 31, 2023 resulted primarily from operating losses and an
increase in real estate inventory. The decrease in our restricted cash balance of $316 million as compared to December 31, 2023 was primarily a result of
the increase in real estate inventory and $7 million net principal payments on non-recourse asset-backed debt.

As of September 30, 2024, the Company had total outstanding balances on our asset-backed debt of $2.1 billion and aggregate principal outstanding
from convertible senior notes of $381 million. In addition, we had undrawn borrowing capacity of $4.9 billion under our non-recourse asset-backed debt
facilities (as described further below), of which $142 million was committed.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company entered into separate, privately negotiated transactions to repurchase a portion of the
outstanding 2026 Notes (“Repurchased 2026 Notes”). We repurchased approximately $597 million in aggregate principal amount of our 2026 Notes as
further described in “Part [ — Item 1. Financial Statements — Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements — Note 5. Credit Facilities and Long-
Term Debt — Convertible Senior Notes” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. As market conditions warrant, we may, from time to time, repurchase
additional outstanding debt securities in the open market, in privately negotiated transactions, by tender offer, by exchange transaction or otherwise. Such
repurchases, if any, will be upon such terms and at such prices as we may determine, and will depend on prevailing market conditions, our liquidity and
other factors and may be commenced or suspended at any time. The amounts involved and total consideration paid may be material.

In May 2024, the Company entered into an at-the-market equity offering sales agreement (the “ATM Agreement”) with Barclays Capital Inc. and
Virtu Americas LLC, as sales agents (the "Agents"), pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time, through the Agents, shares of
the Company’s common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $200 million. Under the ATM Agreement, the Agents may sell shares by any
method deemed to be an “at-the-market offering.” During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, there was no activity pursuant to the ATM
Agreement.

We have incurred losses from inception through September 30, 2024, with the exception of net income during the three months ended March 31, 2022
and three months ended June 30, 2023, and we expect to incur additional losses in the future. Our ability to service our debt and fund working capital,
business operations and capital expenditures will depend on our ability to generate cash from operating activities, which is subject to our future operating
success, and ability to obtain inventory acquisition financing on reasonable terms, which is subject to factors beyond our control, including potential
economic recession, rising interest rates, inflation and general economic, political and financial market conditions.

Our working capital requirements may increase should our inventory balance increase. We believe our cash, cash equivalents and marketable

securities, together with cash we expect to generate from future operations and borrowings, will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital
expenditure requirements for a period of at least 12 months from the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Debt and Financing Arrangements

Our financing activities include: short-term borrowings under our asset-backed senior revolving credit facilities; the issuance of long-term asset-
backed senior term debt, asset-backed mezzanine term debt, and convertible debt; and new issuances of equity. Historically, we have required access to
external financing resources in order to fund growth, expansion into new markets and strategic initiatives and we expect this to continue in the future. Our
access to capital markets can be impacted by factors outside our control, including economic conditions.

We primarily use non-recourse asset-backed debt, consisting of asset-backed senior debt facilities and asset-backed mezzanine term debt facilities, to
provide financing for our real estate inventory purchases and renovations. Our business is capital intensive and maintaining adequate liquidity and capital
resources is needed as we continue to scale and accumulate additional inventory. We intend to actively manage our relationships with multiple financial
institutions and seek to optimize duration, flexibility, efficiency and cost of funds, but there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain sufficient
capital for our business or to do so on acceptable financial and other terms.

Our asset-backed facilities are each collateralized by a specified pool of assets, consisting of real estate inventory, restricted cash and equity interests
in certain consolidated subsidiaries of Opendoor that directly or indirectly own our real estate inventory. The terms of our inventory financing facilities
require an Opendoor subsidiary to comply with customary financial covenants, such as maintaining certain levels of liquidity, tangible net worth or
leverage (ratio of debt to tangible net worth). As of September 30, 2024, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants.

Our property financing subsidiaries’ assets and credit generally are not available to satisfy the debts and other obligations of any other Opendoor
entities. Our asset-backed debt is non-recourse to Opendoor and our subsidiaries that are not party to the relevant financing arrangements, except for
limited guarantees provided by an Opendoor subsidiary for certain obligations in situations involving “bad acts” by an Opendoor entity and certain other
limited circumstances.

Our asset-backed senior debt facilities generally provide for advance rates of 75% to 90% against our cost basis in the underlying properties upon
acquisition. Our mezzanine term facilities may finance up to 95% to 100% of our cost basis in the underlying properties upon acquisition. The maximum
initial advance rates vary by facility and generally decrease on a fixed timeline that varies by facility based on the length of time a given property has been
financed and other facility-specific adjustments, including adjustments based on collateral performance.

At times, we may be required to keep amounts in restricted cash accounts to collateralize our asset-backed term debt facilities if the property

borrowing base is insufficient to satisfy the borrowing base requirements. These amounts may fluctuate due to seasonality, timing of property acquisitions
and resales, and the outstanding loan balances under our asset-backed term debt facilities.
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The following table summarizes certain details related to our non-recourse asset-backed debt and other secured borrowings as of September 30, 2024
(in millions, except interest rates):

Outstanding Amount

Weighted
Borrowing Average End of Revolving / Final Maturity
September 30, 2024 Capacity Current Non-Current Interest Rate Withdrawal Period Date
Non-Recourse Asset-backed Debt:
Asset-backed Senior Revolving Credit
Facilities
Revolving Facility 2018-2 1,000 $ — 3 — — % June 24, 2026 June 24, 2026
Revolving Facility 2018-3 1,000 258 — 8.26 % September 29, 2026 September 29, 2026
Revolving Facility 2019-1 300 — — —% August 15, 2025 August 15, 2025
Revolving Facility 2019-2 550 — — — % October 3, 2025 October 2, 2026
Revolving Facility 2019-3 100 35 — 821 % April 4,2025 April 3, 2026
Asset-backed Senior Term Debt Facilities
Term Debt Facility 2021-S1 100 100 — 3.48 % January 2, 2025 April 1, 2025
Term Debt Facility 2021-S2 400 — 300 323 % September 10, 2025 March 10, 2026
Term Debt Facility 2021-S3 1,000 — 750 375 % January 31, 2027 July 31,2027
Term Debt Facility 2022-S1 250 250 — 4.07 % March 1, 2025 September 1, 2025
Total $ 4,700 $ 643 $ 1,050
Issuance Costs — ®)
Carrying Value $ 643 $ 1,042
Asset-backed Mezzanine Term Debt
Facilities
Term Debt Facility 2020-M1 1,800 — 300 10.00 % April 1,2025 April 1, 2026
Term Debt Facility 2022-M 1 500 — 150 10.00 % September 15, 2025 September 15, 2026
Total $ 2,300 $ — 3 450
Issuance Costs (1)
Carrying Value $ 449
Total Non-Recourse Asset-backed Debt $ 7,000 $ 643§ 1,491

Asset-backed Senior Revolving Credit Facilities

We classify the senior revolving credit facilities as current liabilities on our condensed consolidated balance sheets. In some cases, the borrowing
capacity amounts under the asset-backed senior revolving credit facilities as reflected in the table are not fully committed and any borrowings above the
committed amounts are subject to the applicable lender’s discretion. As of September 30, 2024, we had committed borrowing capacity with respect to
asset-backed senior revolving credit facilities of $400 million.

The revolving period end dates and final maturity dates reflected in the table above are inclusive of any extensions that are at the sole discretion of the
Company. Certain of our asset-backed senior revolving credit facilities also have additional extension options that are subject to lender approval that are not
reflected in the table above.

Asset-backed Senior Term Debt Facilities

We classify our senior term debt facilities as current or non-current liabilities in our condensed consolidated balance sheets based on the applicable
final maturity date. The carrying value of the non-current liabilities is reduced by issuance costs of $8 million. In some cases, the borrowing capacity
amounts under the asset-backed senior term debt facilities as reflected in the table are not fully committed and any borrowings above the committed
amounts are subject to the applicable lender’s discretion. As of September 30, 2024, we had committed borrowing capacity with respect to asset-backed
senior term debt facilities of $1.4 billion.
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The withdrawal period end dates and final maturity dates reflected in the table above are inclusive of any extensions that are at the sole discretion of
the Company. Certain of our asset-backed senior term debt facilities also have additional extension options that are subject to lender approval that are not
reflected in the table above.

Asset-backed Mezzanine Term Debt Facilities

In addition to the asset-backed senior revolving credit facilities and asset-backed senior term debt facilities, we have issued asset-backed mezzanine
term debt facilities which are subordinated to the related senior facilities. The borrowing capacity amounts under the asset-backed mezzanine term debt
facilities as reflected in the table are not fully committed and any borrowing above the committed amounts are subject to the applicable lender’s discretion.
As of September 30, 2024, we had committed borrowing capacity with respect to asset-backed mezzanine term debt facilities of $450 million.

Convertible Senior Notes

In August 2021, we issued the 2026 Notes with an aggregate principal amount of $978 million. The table below summarizes certain details related to
our 2026 Notes (in millions), as of September 30, 2024, which includes certain repurchases:

Remaining Aggregate Unamortized Debt
September 30, 2024 Principal Amount Issuance Costs Net Carrying Amount

2026 Notes $ 381 $ ) $ 377

See “Part I — Item 1. Financial Statements — Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements — Note 5. Credit Facilities and Long-Term Debt”
for additional information regarding our debt and financing arrangements.

Special Purpose Entities
The Company has established certain special purpose entities (“SPEs”) for the purpose of financing the Company’s purchase and renovation of real
estate inventory through the issuance of asset-backed debt. The Company is the primary beneficiary of the various variable interest entities (““VIE”) within

these financing structures and consolidates these VIEs. See “Part I — Item 1. Financial Statements — Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements — Note 4. Variable Interest Entities” for additional information regarding our VIEs.
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The following table summarizes the assets and liabilities related to the VIEs consolidated by the Company as well as the assets, liabilities and equity
related to Opendoor Technologies Inc. (Parent Company Only) (“Parent Company”) and subsidiaries that are not VIEs, as of September 30, 2024 (in

millions):

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Marketable securities
Escrow receivable
Real estate inventory
Inventory valuation adjustment
Real estate inventory, net
Other current assets
Total current assets
OTHER ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Current asset-backed senior revolving credit

Current asset-backed senior term debt

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current asset-backed mezzanine term debt
Non-current asset-backed senior term debt
CONVERTIBLE SENIOR NOTES
LEASE LIABILITIES — Net of current portion
OTHER LIABILITIES

TOTAL LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

VIE Non-VIE Total
$ = 829 § 829
214 11 225
— 8 8
14 1 15
2,122 59 2,181
(34 @) (36)
2,088 57 2,145
14 27 41
2,330 933 3,263
M — 148 148
$ 2,330 1,081 § 3,411
$ 293 — 3 293
350 — 350
(@) 36 42 78
679 42 721
449 — 449
1,042 — 1,042
— 377 377
— 19 19
— 2 2
$ 2,170 440 $ 2,610
$ 160 641 $ 801

(M The Company’s consolidated Other Assets include the following assets as shown in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets: Property and

Equipment - Net, $59 million; Right of Use Assets, $25 million; Goodwill, $3 million; and Other Assets, $61 million.

@ The Company’s consolidated Other Current Liabilities include the following liabilities as shown in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets:
Accounts Payable and Other Accrued Liabilities, $71 million; Interest Payable, $3 million; and Lease Liabilities — Current, $4 million.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
(in millions) 2024 2023
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (515) $ 2,886
Net cash provided by investing activities $ 31 $ 48
Net cash used in financing activities $ 2 3 (2,347)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ (486) $ 587

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities was $(515) million and $2.9 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2024, cash used in operating activities was primarily driven by the $422 million increase in real
estate inventory and our net loss, net of non-cash items, of $98 million. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, cash provided by operating
activities was primarily driven by the $3.1 billion decrease in real estate inventory, partially offset by our net loss, net of non-cash items, of $153 million.

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities was $31 million and $48 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. For
the nine months ended September 30, 2024, cash provided by investing activities primarily consisted of a decrease in marketable securities of $55 million,
partially offset by an $22 million increase in property and equipment principally related to the capitalization of internally developed software. For the nine
months ended September 30, 2023, cash provided by investing activities primarily consisted of a decrease in marketable securities of $75 million, partially
offset by a $28 million increase in property and equipment principally related to the capitalization of internally developed software.

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $2 million and $2.3 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. For the
nine months ended September 30, 2024, cash used in financing activities was primarily attributable to $7 million net principal payments on non-recourse
asset-backed debt, offset by $5 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock for ESPP. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, cash
used in financing activities was primarily attributable to $2.1 billion net principal payments on non-recourse asset-backed debt as well as $270 million
related to the partial repurchase of the 2026 Notes.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

There have been no material changes outside the ordinary course of business in our commitments under contractual obligations as previously
disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, except for the
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categories of contractual obligations included in the table below, which have been updated to reflect our contractual obligations as of September 30, 2024:

Payment Due by Year
Less than More than
(in millions) Total 1 year 1-3 years 4 -5 years 5 years
Senior revolving credit facilities!” $ 299 $ 299 $ — 3 — 3 —
Senior and mezzanine term debt facilities® 2,031 445 1,586 — —
Convertible senior notes® 383 1 382 — —
Operating lease® 32 7 11 10 4
Purchase commitments® 332 332 — — —
Total $ 3,077 $ 1,084 $ 1,979 $ 10 $ 4

(M Represents the principal amounts outstanding as of September 30, 2024. Includes estimated interest payments, calculated using the variable rate in
existence at period end over an assumed holding period of 90 days. Borrowings under the senior revolving credit facilities are payable as the related
inventory is sold. The payment is expected to be within one year of September 30, 2024.

@ Represents the principal amounts outstanding as of September 30, 2024 and estimated interest payments assuming the principal balances remain
outstanding until maturity. The final maturity dates of the senior and mezzanine term debt facilities vary, as discussed above.

®  Represents the principal amounts outstanding as of September 30, 2024 and interest payments assuming the principal balances remain outstanding
until maturity.

@ Represents future payments for long-term operating leases that have commenced, or have been executed but not yet commenced, as of September 30,
2024.

®  As of September 30, 2024, we were under contract to purchase 1,006 homes for an aggregate purchase price of $332 million.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, revenue, and expenses at the date of the financial statements. Generally, we
base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions in accordance with GAAP that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We consider an accounting judgment, estimate or assumption to be critical when (1) the estimate or assumption is complex in nature or requires a
high degree of judgment and (2) the use of different judgments, estimates and assumptions could have a material impact on the condensed consolidated
financial statements. Based on this definition, critical accounting policies and estimates are discussed in “Part I — Item 7. Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2023. There have been no significant changes to these critical accounting estimates during the first nine months of 2024. In addition,
we have other key accounting policies and estimates that are described in “Part I — Item 1. Financial Statements — Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements — Note 1. Description of Business and Accounting Policies” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information on recent accounting standards, see “Part [ — Item 1. Financial Statements — Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
— Note 1. Description of Business and Accounting Policies”.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily consist of fluctuations in interest rates and exposure to
inflationary pressures.

Interest Rate Risk

We are subject to market risk by way of changes in interest rates on borrowings under our inventory financing facilities. As of September 30, 2024,
we had total outstanding balances on our asset-backed debt of $2.1 billion, 86% of which was based on a fixed rate with an average duration of 1.9 years
and the remaining 14% of which was based on a floating rate. Total property financing interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 was
$88 million, of which $81 million was fixed and $7 million was floating. As of September 30, 2024 we had outstanding borrowings of $293 million which
bear interest at floating benchmark reference rates based on the secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”), plus an applicable margin. Accordingly,
fluctuations in market interest rates may increase or decrease our interest expense. We may use interest rate cap derivatives, interest rate swaps or other
interest rate hedging instruments to economically hedge and manage interest rate risk with respect to our variable floating rate debt. Many of our floating
rate debt facilities also have benchmark rate floors. Assuming no change in the outstanding borrowings on our credit facilities, we estimate that a one
percentage point increase in applicable benchmark rates would increase our annual interest expense by approximately $3 million as of September 30, 2024.

Inflation Risk

We believe the inflation experienced in recent years has impacted the cost of goods and services that we consume, such as labor and materials costs
for home repairs. We endeavor to offset these impacts in our business through appropriately considering them in our pricing and operational models.
However, if our costs were to become subject to significant incremental inflationary pressure, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs by
adjusting our operational model or our pricing methodology. Our inability to do so could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, in response to ongoing inflationary pressures in the U.S., the Federal Reserve has implemented a number of increases to the federal funds
rate since 2022, which, despite the Federal Reserve’s 50 basis point cut in September 2024, remains elevated compared to historical levels. See “Part I —
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Current Housing Environment” for a discussion of the
impact of the increased federal funds rate on mortgage interest rates and our business.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and
procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible
controls and procedures relative to their costs.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer (who the Board has determined performs the
functions of the Company’s principal financial officer and principal accounting officer as of the date of the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q),
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of the end
of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on the evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective at the reasonable assurance level as of September 30, 2024. The Board has determined
that, as of the date following the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, Selim F. Freiha, will be the
Company’s principal financial officer and principal accounting officer.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting in connection with the evaluation required by Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of

the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2024 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

The information required by this Item 1 is incorporated herein by reference to the discussion in Part [ — Item 1. Financial Statements — Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements — Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies — Legal Matters.

In addition to the legal matters referenced above, we are currently and have in the past been subject to legal proceedings and regulatory actions in the
ordinary course of business. We do not anticipate that the ultimate liability, if any, arising out of any such matters will have a material effect on our
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. In the future, we may be subject to further legal proceedings and regulatory actions in the ordinary
course of business and we cannot predict whether any such proceeding or matter will have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations
or cash flows.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

In the course of conducting our business operations, we are exposed to a variety of risks. You should carefully consider the risks described below, the
risks described in “Part I — Item 1A. Risk Factors,” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 (the “Annual Report”), as
well as the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our financial statements and related notes and “Item 2. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result of Operations,” before deciding whether to invest in our common stock. Any of the risk factors
we described in “Part [ — Item 1A. Risk Factors,” in our Annual Report or in subsequent periodic reports, have affected or could materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. The market price of shares of our common stock could decline, possibly
significantly or permanently, if one or more of these risks and uncertainties occurs. Certain statements in “Risk Factors” are forward-looking statements.
See “Forward-Looking Statements.”

There have been no material changes to our risk factors since the Annual Report.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
None.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
Item S. Other Information.
(a) On November 6, 2024, Megan Meyer Toolson notified the Company’s Chief Executive Officer of her resignation as the Company’s President, Sell
Direct and Services, effective December 2, 2024. Following her resignation, the Company expects that Ms. Meyer Toolson will remain as an advisor

through January 31, 2025, and will continue to be compensated on the same terms during such period.

(b) None.
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Securities Trading Arrangements of Directors and Executive Officers

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

The following table describes contracts, instructions or written plans for the sale or purchase of our securities that were intended to satisfy the

affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) or any “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” by our directors or executive officers during the three-
month period ended September 30, 2024.

Trading Arrangement

Action Date Rule Non-Rule Maximum Shares to  Expiration Date
10b5-1 D 10b5-1® be Sold
Megan Meyer Toolson (President, Sell Direct & Services) Adopt 9/9/2024 X 380,000 11/25/2025
Sydney Schaub (Chief Legal Officer) Adopt 9/3/2024 X 1,194,668 12/15/2025
Christina Schwartz (Chief Accounting Officer and former interim Adopt 8/18/2024 X 414,489% 10/31/2025

Chief Financial Officer)

O]

)

3)

@

Intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 10b5-1(c)
Not intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 10b5-1(c)

At the time of adoption, the maximum number of shares that could be sold was unknown. The Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement contemplated, as of
the adoption date, the sale of up to 393,260 shares of common stock; however, 373,382 of such shares may be sold pursuant to a prior Rule 10b5-1
trading arrangement that will expire prior to the commencement of sales under the plan adopted on September 3, 2024. The Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement also contemplated, as of the adoption date, the sale of up to 801,408 shares of common stock subject to RSUs previously granted to Ms.
Schaub that will vest or vested at various dates between September 15, 2024 and October 15, 2025, as well as an unknown number of shares to be
purchased in the future pursuant to the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The aggregate number of Ms. Schaub’s RSU shares that will be
available for sale under the Plan is not yet determinable because the shares available will be net of shares sold to satisfy tax withholding obligations
that arise in connection with the vesting and settlement of such RSU awards.

At the time of adoption, the maximum number of shares that could be sold was unknown. The trading arrangement contemplated, as of the adoption
date, the sale of up to 414,489 shares of common stock. This number included up to 116,841 shares of common stock subject to RSUs previously
granted to Ms. Schwartz that vested or will vest at various dates between September 15, 2024 and October 15, 2025. The aggregate number of Ms.
Schwartz’s RSU shares that will be available for sale under the Plan is not yet determinable because the shares available will be net of shares sold to
satisfy tax withholding obligations that arise in connection with the vesting and settlement of such RSU awards. As such, for purposes of this
disclosure, the shares included in this table reflect the shares held by Ms. Schwartz plus the aggregate maximum number of shares underlying Ms.
Schwartz’s RSUs without excluding the shares that will be sold to satisfy the tax withholding obligations.

Rule 10b5-1 Sell to Cover Instruction Letter

On August 13, 2024, Ms. Megan Meyer Toolson, Ms. Sydney Schaub and Ms. Christina Schwartz each entered into a 10b5-1 Instruction Letter (the

“Instructions”) with respect to all RSUs granted or to be granted to each of them under the Company’s equity plans or any successor plans, in order to
instruct the broker(s) chosen by the Company to sell shares of common stock in order to satisfy any tax withholding obligations that arise in connection
with the vesting and settlement of such RSU awards. The Instructions are intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 10b5-1(c). The aggregate
number of shares to be sold under the Instructions is not determinable and there is no set expiration date for the Instructions.

51



TABLE OF CONTENTS

OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.

Item 6. Exhibits.
The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Exhibit Filed
No. Description Form File No. Exhibit  Filing Date Herewith

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 15, 2020, by, 8-K 001-39253 21 09/17/2020
and among Social Capital Hedosophia Corp. 11, Hestia Merger Sub

Inc. and Opendoor Labs Inc.

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of Opendoor Technologies Inc. 8-K 001-39253 3.1 12/18/2020
32 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Opendoor Technologies Inc. 8-K 001-39253 3.1 01/24/2023
4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Opendoor Technologies Inc. S-4/A 333-249302 4.5 11/06/2020
4.2 Warrant Agreement, dated July 28, 2022, between Opendoor
Technologies Inc. and Zillow, Inc. 8-K 001-39253 99.2 08/05/2022
10.1#  Offer Letter Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2024, by and *
between Opendoor Labs Inc. and Selim Freiha
10.2#  Transition Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2024, by and *

between Opendoor Technologies Inc., Opendoor Labs Inc. and
Christina Schwartz

311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

312+ Certification of Chief Accounting Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1+  (Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer *

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not *
appear in the Interactive Data file because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. *
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. *
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. *
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. *
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. *

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (as formatted as Inline XBRL and *

contained in Exhibit 101)

*  Filed herewith.
**  Furnished herewith.
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

+ The Company’s Chief Accounting Officer is performing the function of the principal financial officer and principal accounting officer as of the date of
the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned

thereunto duly authorized.

OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.

By: /s/ Carrie Wheeler

Date: November 07, 2024
Name: Carrie Wheeler
Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: November 07, 2024 By: /s/ Christina Schwartz
Name: Christina Schwartz
Title: Chief Accounting Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)*

* The Company’s Chief Accounting Officer is performing the function of the principal financial officer and principal accounting officer as of the date of
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Exhibit 10.1

OPENDOOR LABS INC.
410 N Scottsdale Rd Ste 1600
Tempe, AZ, 85288

VIA EMAIL

September 30, 2024

Selim Freiha
[* % *]

Re:  Employment Offer
Dear Selim:
Opendoor Labs Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), is pleased to offer you employment as the Company’s Chief

Financial Officer, on the terms described in this letter agreement (this “Agreement”). Your employment shall commence no later than
November 4, 2024 (such actual date of your commencement of employment shall be referred to herein as the “Start Date™).

1. Employment. As Chief Financial Officer, you will be responsible for performing such duties as are customarily associated
with such position, and such other responsibilities consistent with your title as may be assigned to you by Carric Wheeler, Chief Executive
Officer, to whom you will report. You will be employed on a full-time basis. During the term of your employment with the Company, you
will devote your best efforts and substantially all of your business time and attention to the business of the Company, except for approved
vacation periods and reasonable periods of illness or other incapacities permitted by the Company’s general employment policies. You will
be based in the San Francisco Bay Area, you will work in person from our San Francisco, California office three days per week or otherwise
in accordance with in accordance with the Company’s standard policies with respect to in-office expectations for senior employees, and you
will travel as reasonably required in connection with your duties when deemed necessary or requested by the Company from time to time.
This is an exempt position.

2. Salary. You will be paid a base salary at the annual rate of $500,000, to be paid in accordance with the Company’s regular
payroll practices. As an exempt salaried employee, you will be required to work the Company’s normal business hours, and such additional
time as appropriate for your work assignments and position, and you will not be entitled to overtime compensation. The Company may
change your base salary from time to time with reasonable advance notice, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.

3. Annual Bonus. In addition to your base salary, you will be eligible to earn, for each fiscal year of the Company ending
during the term of your employment with the Company, an annual cash bonus, as approved from time to time by the Board of Directors or
Compensation Committee of Opendoor Technologies Inc. (“Parent”). Your target annual bonus opportunity will be 50% of your base salary
actually paid for the year to which such annual bonus relates. Your actual annual bonus will be determined



on the basis of such criteria established by the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee of Parent in accordance with the terms and
conditions of any bonus plan adopted from time to time. Except as otherwise provided in the Severance Plan (as defined below), you must be
employed by the Company on the date of payment of such annual bonus in order to be eligible to receive such annual bonus. You hereby
acknowledge and agree that nothing contained herein confers upon you any right to an annual bonus in any year, and that whether the
Company pays you an annual bonus and the amount of any such annual bonus will be determined by the Company in its sole discretion.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, your annual bonus for 2024 will be guaranteed in an aggregate amount equal to $750,000 (your “Sign-on
Payment”), to be paid (less taxes, deductions, and withholdings) in two equal installments of $375,000 each, with the first installment
payable on the date that is 30 days after your Start Date and with the second installment payable on the date that is six months after your
Start Date. If you resign your employment with the Company without Good Reason (as defined below), or the Company terminates your
employment for Cause (as defined below), at any time prior to the first anniversary of your Start Date, you shall repay, within 60 days of
your last day of employment with the Company, the after-tax amount of the Sign-on Payment paid to you prior to the termination of your
employment.

4. Benefits. You will be eligible to participate in all of the employee benefit plans or programs the Company generally makes
available to similarly situated employees, pursuant to the terms and conditions of such plans. You will be eligible for Company-paid holidays
and paid time off in accordance with the Company’s policies. The Company may, from time to time, change these benefits in its discretion,
provided that you shall be treated no less favorably than similarly situated employees. Additional information regarding these benefits is
available for your review upon request.

5. Equity. The Board of Directors or Compensation Committee of Parent, as soon as practicable following the Start Date, will
grant you 3,875,000 restricted stock units (“RSUs” and such grant, the “RSU Grant”). Each RSU will represent the right to receive one
share of the common stock of Parent. The RSU Grant will vest on the following schedule, subject to your continuous service on each such
date, except as set forth herein: 1,291,667 RSUs will vest on the 15th day of the calendar month in which the first anniversary of the Start
Date falls, and the remaining 2,583,333 RSUs will vest in equal installments on a quarterly basis over the two years thereafter. The RSU

Grant will be subject to the provisions of Parent’s current equity incentive plan or inducement award plan, as applicable (the “Plan”) and our
standard form of RSU award agreement, which will govern and control in all respects, except as otherwise set forth herein. The applicable
RSU award agreement will also include the following terms: Notwithstanding the terms of any document to the contrary, in the event that (i)
a “Corporate Transaction” (as defined in the Plan) occurs or any other event pursuant to which the Company has retained the right to
terminate RSUs and/or other stock awards (without consideration sufficient to cover the value of such RSUs and/or other stock awards)
occurs, and (ii) the surviving corporation or the acquiring corporation fails to either (A) continue or assume any or all of the RSU Grant
and/or other stock awards or (B) substitute similar stock awards for the RSU Grant and/or other stock awards (it being understood that
similar stock awards include, but are not limited to, awards to acquire the same consideration paid to the stockholders or the Company, as the
case may be, pursuant to the Corporate Transaction or other such event), then one hundred percent (100%) of the unvested portion of the
RSU Grant and your other Company issued stock awards shall immediately vest as of the date immediately preceding the Corporate



Transaction or other such event. You will be eligible to receive refresh grant(s) at the discretion of the Board of Directors or Compensation
Committee of Parent. The RSUs will be eligible for accelerated vesting as provided in the Severance Plan.

6. At-Will Employment; Severance. Employment with the Company is for no specific period of time. Your employment with
the Company is “at will,” meaning that either you or the Company may terminate your employment at any time and for any reason, with or
without Cause (as defined in the Severance Plan) and with or without advance notice. Any contrary representations which may have been
made to you are superseded by this offer. This is the full and complete agreement between you and the Company on this term. Although your
job duties, title, compensation and benefits, as well as the Company’s personnel policies and procedures, may change from time to time, the
“at will” nature of your employment may only be changed in an express written agreement signed by you and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, you may be entitled to severance upon certain qualifying terminations of employment, as outlined in
the Opendoor Technologies Inc. Executive Severance Plan (the “Severance Plan”).! By signing this Agreement and the Participation
Agreement with respect to your participation in the Severance Plan, attached hereto as Attachment | (the “Participation Agreement”), you
acknowledge your designation as a Tier 2 Executive (as defined in the Severance Plan) in the Severance Plan and your understanding that

you agree to all the terms and conditions of the Severance Plan.

7. Expenses. You will be entitled to reimbursement for all ordinary and reasonable out-of-pocket business expenses which are
reasonably incurred by you in furtherance of the Company’s business, with appropriate documentation and in accordance with the
Company’s standard policies. Any reimbursement of expenses or in-kind benefits payable under this Agreement shall be made in accordance
with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv) and shall be paid on or before the last day of your taxable year following the taxable
year in which you incurred the expenses. The amount of expenses reimbursed or in-kind benefits payable in one year shall not affect the
amount eligible for reimbursement or in-kind benefits payable in any other taxable year of yours, and your right to reimbursement for such
amounts shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for any other benefit.

8. Compliance with Confidentiality Information Agreement and Company Policies. In connection with your employment

with the Company, you will receive and have access to Company confidential information and trade secrets. Accordingly, as a condition to
your commencement of employment with the Company, you will be required to execute the Employee Confidential Information and
Inventions Assignment Agreement (“Confidentiality Agreement”) attached hereto as Attachment 2, which contains restrictive covenants and

prohibits unauthorized use or disclosure of the Company’s confidential information and trade secrets, among other obligations. In addition,
you are required to abide by the Company’s policies and procedures (including but not limited to the Company’s employee handbook), as
adopted or modified from time to time within the Company’s discretion, and acknowledge in writing that you have read and will comply
with such policies and procedures (and provide additional such

T A copy of the Severance Plan can be reviewed at
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1801169/000180116924000085/a101opendoortechnologiesin.htm and is available upon request.




acknowledgements as such policies and procedures may be modified from time to time). The Company may modify, revoke, suspend or
terminate any of the policies and/or procedures at any time, with or without notice.

Nothing in this Agreement or the Confidentiality Agreement shall prevent you from (i) communicating directly with, cooperating with, or
providing information to, or receiving financial awards from, any federal, state or local government agency, including without limitation the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission, the U.S. Department of Justice, the U.S.
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, or the U.S. National Labor Relations Board, without notifying or seeking permission from the
Company, (ii) exercising any rights you may have under Section 7 of the U.S. National Labor Relations Act, such as the right to engage in
concerted activity, including collective action or discussion concerning wages or working conditions, or (iii) discussing or disclosing
information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such as harassment or discrimination based on a protected characteristic or any other
conduct that Employee has reason to believe is unlawful. In addition, you acknowledge receipt of the following notice of immunity rights
under the U.S. Defend Trade Secrets Act, which states: “(1) An individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or
state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (A) is made (i) in confidence to a Federal, State, or local government official,
either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (ii) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (B)
is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal; and (2) an individual who
files a lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose a trade secret to the attorney of the
individual and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if the individual (A) files any document containing the trade secret
under seal, and (B) does not disclose a trade secret, except pursuant to court order.”

9. Protection of Third-Party Information. By signing this Agreement, you are representing that you have full authority to
accept this position and perform the duties of the position without conflict with any other obligations and that you are not involved in any
situation that might create, or appear to create, a conflict of interest with respect to your loyalty to or duties for the Company. You
specifically warrant that you are not subject to an employment agreement or restrictive covenant preventing full performance of your duties
to the Company on and after the Start Date. You agree not to make any unauthorized disclosure or use, on behalf of the Company, of any
confidential information belonging to any of your former employers. You also represent that you are not in unauthorized possession of any
materials containing a third party’s confidential and proprietary information.

10. Outside Activities. During your employment by the Company, except on behalf of the Company, you will not directly or
indirectly serve as an officer, director, stockholder, employee, partner, proprietor, investor, joint venturer, associate, representative or
consultant of any other person, corporation, firm, partnership or other entity whatsoever known by you to compete with the Company (or is
planning or preparing to compete with the Company), anywhere in the world, in any line of business engaged in (or planned to be engaged
in) by the Company; provided, however, that you may purchase or otherwise acquire up to (but not more than) 1% of any class of securities
of any enterprise (but without participating in the activities of such enterprise) and you may passively invest in hedge funds, mutual funds,
private equity



funds and similar funds. Nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit or restrict you from managing your personal investments in companies that
are not competitive with the Company or engaging in civic, charitable, religious or political activities, sitting on a non-profit, professional, or
industry boards, or conducting personal speaking or educational engagements, in each case provided such endeavors do not materially
interfere with your obligations under this Agreement. In addition, in the event that you wish to undertake any business activity outside the
scope of your employment by the Company, which activity you believe entails no conflict with the Company’s activities, you agree to inform
the Company of your intentions prior to the initiation of such outside business activity, and you furthermore agree to abide by the Company’s
decision as to whether or not there is no conflict. If, in the Company’s sole determination, a conflict exists or is likely to develop, you agree

not to undertake such outside business activity.
11. Miscellaneous.

(a)  Background Check and Proof of Right to Work. This offer is contingent upon a satisfactory reference check and
satisfactory proof of your right to work in the United States. If the Company informs you that you are required to complete a background

check or drug test, this offer is contingent upon satisfactory clearance of such background check and/or drug test. You agree to assist as
needed and to complete any documentation at the Company’s request to meet these conditions.

(b) Governing_Law. The validity, interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement, and all acts and
transactions pursuant hereto and the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be governed, construed and interpreted in accordance
with the laws of State of California, without giving effect to principles of conflicts of law.

() Entire Agreement. You acknowledge and agree that as of your execution of this Agreement, your sole entitlement
to any compensation or benefits from the Company will be as set forth in this Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Confidentiality
Agreement, the Indemnification Agreement (as defined below) and the documents governing any equity awards granted to you, sets forth the
entire agreement and understanding of the parties relating to the subject matter herein and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous
discussions, understandings and agreements, whether oral or written, between you and the Company relating to the subject matter hereof. No
amendment or modification to this Agreement shall be effective unless it is in writing and signed by an authorized officer of the Company
and by you.

(d) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed
and delivered shall be deemed an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Facsimile and electronic
image signatures (including .pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, Uniform Electronic
Transactions Act or other applicable law) will be deemed an original and valid signature.

(e) Successors and Assigns. This Agreement will bind the heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns of
both you and the Company, and inure to the benefit of both you and the Company, their heirs, successors and assigns, except that you may
not assign any of your duties



hereunder and you may not assign any of your rights hereunder, without the written consent of the Company.

® Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part,
this determination shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement and the provision in question shall be modified so as to be rendered
enforceable in a manner consistent with the intent of the parties insofar as possible under applicable law.

(2) Waiver. Any waiver of a breach of this Agreement, or rights hereunder, shall be in writing and shall not be deemed
to be a waiver of any successive breach or rights hereunder.

(h) Arbitration. You agree that any and all disputes relating to or regarding your employment, including disputes
regarding compensation and any and all other conflicts, shall be resolved pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1-16 (“FAA”),
or if inapplicable, the California Arbitration Act, to the fullest extent permitted by law, by final and binding arbitration. You further agree
that such disputes shall be resolved on an individual basis only, and not on a class, collective or representative basis on behalf of other
employees (“Class Waiver”), to the extent permitted by applicable law. Any claim that all or part of the Class Waiver is invalid,
unenforceable, unconscionable, void or voidable may be determined only by a court. In no case may class, collective or representative claims
proceed in arbitration. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this paragraph shall not apply to an action or claim brought in court that cannot be
subject to mandatory arbitration as a matter of law, including without limitation, claims alleging sexual harassment or a nonconsensual
sexual action or sexual contact, to the extent any such claims are not permitted by applicable law to be submitted to mandatory arbitration
and such applicable law is not preempted by the FAA or otherwise invalid (the “Excluded Claims”). In the event you intend to bring multiple
claims, including one of the Excluded Claims listed above, the Excluded Claims may be filed with a court, while any other claims will
remain subject to mandatory arbitration. You and the Company agree to bring any dispute in arbitration before a single neutral arbitrator with
JAMS, Inc. or its successor (“JAMS”), in San Francisco, California or in the county of your residence if it is not in the San Francisco Bay

Area at the time of the commencement of an arbitration proceeding, pursuant to the JAMS Employment Rules & Procedures (which can
currently be reviewed at http://www.jamsadr.com/rules-employment-arbitration/ and will be provided to you upon request). You on the one

hand, and the Company on the other, waive any rights to a jury trial or a bench trial in connection with the resolution of any dispute under
this Agreement or your employment (although both parties may seek interim emergency relief from a court to prevent irreparable harm
pending the conclusion of any arbitration). The arbitrator shall: (a) have the authority to compel adequate discovery for the resolution of the
dispute and to award such relief as would otherwise be permitted by law; and (b) issue a written arbitration decision, to include the
arbitrator’s essential findings and conclusions and a statement of the award. The arbitrator shall be authorized to award any or all remedies
that you or the Company would be entitled to seek in a court of law. The Company shall pay all JAMS’ arbitration fees in excess of the
amount of court fees that would be required of you if the dispute were filed in Superior Court. Each party is responsible for its own
attorneys’ fees, except as expressly set forth in your Confidentiality Agreement. Nothing in this letter agreement is intended to prevent either
you or the Company from obtaining injunctive relief in court to prevent irreparable harm pending the conclusion of any such arbitration. Any
awards or orders in such arbitrations



may be entered and enforced as judgments in the federal and state courts of any competent jurisdiction. This paragraph shall not apply to an
action or claim brought in court pursuant to the California Private Attorneys General Act of 2004, as amended. Arbitration is not a
mandatory condition of your employment. If you wish to opt out of this arbitration agreement, you must notify the Company in
writing by sending an email to hr@opendoor.com stating your intent to opt out within 30 days of signing this Agreement.

1) Withholding. All amounts payable to you will be subject to appropriate payroll deductions and withholdings.

)] Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver to you by email or any other

electronic means any documents or notices related to this letter, securities of the Company or any of its affiliates or any other matter,
including documents and/or notices required to be delivered to you by applicable securities law or any other law or the Company’s
organizational documents, each as amended from time to time. You hereby consent to receive such documents and notices by such electronic
delivery and agree to participate through any online or electronic system that may be established and maintained by the Company, or a third
party designated by the Company.

(k) Separate Counsel. You represent that you have had the opportunity to seek separate legal counsel of your own
choosing in connection with the review, negotiation, and execution of this Agreement. The Company shall pay directly or reimburse you
within thirty (30) days following receipt from your legal counsel of an invoice of all reasonable legal fees incurred by you in connection with
the review, negotiation, and execution of this Agreement, up to a maximum of $10,000.



To indicate your acceptance of the Company’s offer of employment, please sign and date this Agreement and the enclosed
Confidentiality Agreement and Participation Agreement where indicated and return them to me no later than September 30, 2024. This offer,
if not accepted, will expire at the close of business on such date.

Best regards,
OPENDOOR LABS INC.
By: __/s/ Carrie Wheeler

Name: Carrie Wheeler
Title: __Chief Executive Officer

Date:__9/30/2024

ACCEPTED AND AGREED:

/s/ Selim Freiha
Selim Freiha
Date: _9/30/2024




ATTACHMENT 1
NOTICE OF PARTICIPATION

Opendoor Technologies Inc.
410 N. Scottsdale Road, Suite 1600
Tempe, AZ 85288

Selim Freiha

c/o Opendoor Technologies Inc.
410 N. Scottsdale Road, Suite 1600
Tempe, AZ 85288

Dear Selim:

Reference is hereby made to the Opendoor Technologies Inc. Executive Severance Plan (the “Plan”). Any capitalized term used but not
defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Plan.

The purpose of this Notice of Participation is to inform you that effective as of your commencement of employment, subject to the terms of
the Plan, you are hereby eligible to participate in the Plan as a Tier 2 Executive.

Sincerely,

OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.
By:

Name:

Title:

ACCEPTED AND AGREED:

Selim Freiha
Date:



ATTACHMENT 2
CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT

[ATTACHED]



Exhibit 10.2

TRANSITION AGREEMENT

This Transition Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into by and among Christina Schwartz (“Executive”), Opendoor
Technologies Inc. (“Parent”) and Opendoor Labs Inc. (“Labs,” and together with Parent, the “Company”), effective as of September 30,
2024 (the “Effective Date”).

Recitals
WHEREAS, Executive currently is employed with the Company as its Interim Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer;

WHEREAS, Executive is a “Tier 2 Executive” for purposes of the Opendoor Technologies Inc. Executive Severance Plan (the
“Severance Plan”); and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to continue to employ Executive, and Executive desires to continue employment with the
Company, during a transition period through May 2, 2025 (or such earlier date on which Executive’s employment terminates for any reason)
(such date, the “Separation Date”), on the terms hereof (the period commencing on the Effective Date of this Agreement and ending on the
Separation Date, the “Employment Period’).

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of, and subject to, the consideration set forth herein, the adequacy of which is hereby
acknowledged by the parties hereto, Executive and the Company hereby agree as follows:

AGREEMENT
1. Employment.

a.  Position and Duties. During the portion of the Employment Period commencing on the Effective Date and ending
November 3, 2024, Executive shall continue in her current role as Interim Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer, on
the terms set forth in this Agreement, with those responsibilities, duties, and authority as in effect on the Effective Date. Executive
hereby confirms her resignation from her role as Interim Chief Financial Officer, effective as of November 3, 2024, but not from her
other positions with the Company or its subsidiaries nor her employment with the Company generally. During the portion of the
Employment Period commencing November 4, 2024, and ending on the Separation Date, Executive shall continue as an employee of
the Company in the role of Chief Accounting Officer on the terms set forth in this Agreement, with responsibilities, duties, and
authority usual and customary for such positions, provided, that it shall be an express duty of Executive, as the Chief Accounting
Officer, to sign the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ending September 30, 2024, anticipated to be
filed on or about November 7, 2024, and complete any required certifications, in her role as the Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer of the Company for such purposes. Executive acknowledges that the Company anticipates that the new Chief Financial
Officer shall assume such duties after the Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2024 is filed. During the Employment
Period, Executive shall continue to report directly to the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”), or, upon the Company’s hiring of a Chief
Financial Officer (“CF0O”), the CFO. Executive agrees to continue to comply with all present and future policies, requirements, rules
and regulations and reasonable directions and requests of the Company in connection with the Company’s business.




b. Performance of Executive’s Duties. During the Employment Period, and except for periods of illness, vacation,
Disability, or excused leaves of absence, Executive shall devote Executive’s full time and attention to the business and affairs of the
Company.

2. Compensation and Related Matters. As compensation for the services to be rendered by Executive to the Company during
the Employment Period, Executive shall be paid the following compensation and benefits:

a. Base Salary. During the Employment Period, Executive shall continue to receive a base salary (i) for the period
commencing on the Effective Date and ending on November 3, 2024, at the rate in effect on the Effective Date ($33,333.33 per
month), and (ii) for the period commencing on November 4, 2024 and ending on May 2, 2025, at the rate of $66,666.67 per month
(the “Base Salary™), The Base Salary shall be paid subject to withholdings and deductions, and shall be paid to Executive in
accordance with the customary payroll practices and procedures of the Company.

b. Bonuses. Executive shall be eligible to receive an annual bonus for 2024 (the “Annual Bonus™) based on the
Company’s achievement of performance objectives in accordance with the Company’s annual bonus plan. Executive’s target Annual
Bonus shall be equal to $160,000. Executive must remain employed by the Company until the date of payment of such Annual
Bonus to remain eligible to receive such Annual Bonus. Any Annual Bonus earned will be paid at the same time annual bonuses are
paid to other executives of the Company generally. Executive will not be eligible for an annual bonus for 2025. In addition,
Executive shall remain eligible to receive her $50,000 retention bonus during the fourth quarter of 2024 in accordance with the terms
of that certain business continuity award letter dated August 12, 2022 (the “Retention Bonus Letter™).

c. Benefits. Executive shall be entitled to participate in such employee and executive benefit plans and programs as the
Company may offer from time to time to provide to its executives, subject to the terms and conditions of such plans. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, nothing herein is intended, or shall be construed, to require the Company to institute or continue any, or any particular,
plan, or benefits.

d. Business Expenses. The Company shall reimburse Executive for all reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket travel
and other business expenses incurred by Executive in the performance of Executive’s duties to the Company in accordance with the
Company’s applicable expense reimbursement policies and procedures as are in effect from time to time.

e. Vacation. Executive will be entitled to vacation pay in accordance with the Company’s standard policy as in effect on
the Effective Date. Any vacation days that have already been requested by Executive on or prior to the Effective Date shall be
honored by the Company.

f. Equity Awards. Executive shall not be eligible to receive additional grants of stock options, restricted stock units
(“RSUs”) or performance stock units (“PRSUs” and collectively with any stock options or RSUs, “Equity Awards). Executive’s
Equity Awards shall continue to vest in accordance with their terms during the Employment Period. Upon the Separation Date,
except as otherwise provided in Section 4, Executive’s unvested Equity Awards will cease vesting and any unvested Equity Awards
shall terminate.



3. Termination of Employment.

a. At-Will Employment. The Company and Executive acknowledge that Executive’s employment is and shall continue
to be at-will, as defined under applicable law. This means that it is not for any specified period of time and can be terminated by
Executive or by the Company at any time, with or without advance notice, and for any or no particular reason or cause. It also means
that Executive’s job duties, title, and responsibility and reporting level, work schedule, compensation, and benefits, as well as the
Company’s personnel policies and procedures, may be changed with prospective effect, with or without notice, at any time in the sole
discretion of the Company. This “at-will” nature of Executive’s employment shall remain unchanged during Executive’s tenure as an
employee and may not be changed, except in an express writing signed by Executive and the CEO. If Executive’s employment
terminates for any lawful reason, Executive shall not be entitled to any payments, benefits or other compensation other than as
provided in this Agreement.

b. Separation Date. The Separation Date will be the date of Executive’s termination from employment with the
Company and all of its affiliates for all purposes, including active participation in and coverage under all benefit plans and programs
sponsored by or through the Company and its affiliates, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement. Executive hereby confirms
her resignation from all positions she held with the Company and any of its affiliates, and as an officer or other positions held with
Labs and any other subsidiary of Parent, effective as of the Separation Date.

c. Final Paycheck. In accordance with applicable law, on the Separation Date, the Company will issue to Executive her
final paycheck, reflecting any earned but unpaid Base Salary through the Separation Date, and any accrued, unused vacation pay as
of the Separation Date. Executive acknowledges that, other than the compensation set forth in Section 2 to be paid to Executive as
provided herein and the Separation Benefits set forth in Section 4, she has or will have received all wages, bonuses, accrued but
unused vacation or paid time off, and other benefits due Executive as a result of her employment or service with and termination
from the Company (the “Accrued Obligations™).

d. Expenses. The Company, within thirty (30) days after receipt of Executive’s submission of business expenses, will
reimburse Executive for any and all reasonable and necessary business expenses incurred by Executive in connection with the
performance of Executive’s job duties prior to the Separation Date, which expenses shall be submitted to the Company with
supporting receipts and/or documentation no later than ten (10) days after the Separation Date.

e. Benefits. Subject to Section 4(a)(ii) below, Executive’s entitlement to health benefits from the Company, and
eligibility to participate in the Company’s health benefit plans, shall cease on the last day of the calendar month during which the
Separation Date occurred (“Health Benefits Termination Date), except to the extent Executive elects to and is eligible to receive
continued healthcare coverage pursuant to the provisions of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as
amended (“COBRA”), for herself and any covered dependents. Executive’s entitlement to other benefits from the Company, and
eligibility to participate in the Company’s other benefit plans and programs, shall cease on the Separation Date.

4. Separation Benefits.

a. In the event the Separation Date occurs as a result of (i) the expiration of the Employment Period on May 2, 2025, or
(i1) any earlier termination of Executive’s employment by



the Company other than for Cause, subject to the occurrence of the Release Effective Date (as defined below) within the time period
described in Section 4(b) below and Executive’s continued compliance with Section 8, including Section 8(b) regarding the return of
Company property, in addition to the Accrued Obligations, the Company agrees to provide Executive with the following separation
benefits, which represent the severance benefits to which Executive would be entitled upon a Non-CIC Qualifying Termination under
the Severance Plan had Executive’s separation occurred on November 3, 2024 plus the additional severance in clause (i)(A) below
(to the extent applicable) (the “Separation Benefits”):

(1) Severance Payments. Executive shall be eligible for (A) if the Separation Date occurs prior to May 2, 2025,
a lump sum payment equal to any Base Salary as described in Section 2(a) to which Executive would have been entitled during the
period commencing on the Separation Date through May 2, 2025 had Executive remained employed through such date, to be paid in
cash on the first payroll date on or following the 60" day following the Separation Date, plus (B) any unpaid portion of Executive’s
retention bonus under the Retention Bonus Letter, to be paid in cash on the first payroll date on or following the 60th day following
the Separation Date, plus (C) severance in the amount of $200,000.00, payable in substantially equal installments over the six-month
period commencing on the Separation Date, in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices, commencing on the first
regularly scheduled payroll date on or following the 60th day following the Separation Date. The first installment payment under
clause (C) shall include any portion of the cash severance payments that would have otherwise been payable following the
Separation Date and prior to such date of the first installment payment.

(i1) COBRA Benefits. For the period that is equal to (A) if the Separation Date occurs prior to May 2, 2025, the
number of full months following the Separation Date but prior to May 2, 2025, plus (B) the twelve (12) full months following May 2,
2025 (such period, the “COBRA Coverage Period”), the Company shall pay Executive a cash payment equal to an amount that
reflects the Company’s best estimate of the amount of the aggregate monthly premiums Executive is, or would be, required to pay for
continuation coverage pursuant to COBRA for Executive and her eligible dependents who were covered under the Company’s health
plans as of the Separation Date, assuming that Executive and her dependents elect COBRA coverage during the COBRA Coverage
Period, and with such amount grossed up for the Company’s best estimate of income taxes due by Executive on such payment (the
“COBRA Coverage Reimbursement Payment”). The COBRA Coverage Reimbursement Payment shall be paid by the Company to
the Executive on the first payroll date on or following the 60th day following the Separation Date. Executive shall be solely
responsible for all matters relating to continuation of coverage pursuant to COBRA, including, without limitation, the election of
such coverage and the timely payment of premiums.

(i)  Equity_Acceleration. With respect to Executive’s Equity Awards, (A) any of Executive’s RSUs or stock
options the vesting of which is solely time-based that would otherwise vest, pursuant to the terms of the applicable award
agreements, on or prior to November 2, 2025 following the Separation Date shall become fully vested as of the Release Effective
Date, and (B) Executive shall vest (or remain eligible to vest, if the Separation Date occurs before the “Certification Date” (as such
term is defined in Executive’s PRSU agreement evidencing the PRSUs granted to Executive on February 26, 2024 (the “PRSU
Agreement”)) in such number of the “Vesting Eligible PRSUs” (as such term is defined in the PRSU Agreement) as would otherwise
vest, pursuant to the terms of the PRSU agreement, on or prior to November 2, 2025, if any, pursuant to the terms of the PRSU award
agreement, and except as set forth in this clause (iii), such Equity Awards shall be governed by the terms of the applicable Equity
Award agreement.



b. Reclease. As a condition to Executive’s receipt of the Separation Benefits, Executive shall execute and not revoke a
general release of all claims in favor of the Company (the “Release”) in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A. The date on which
Executive’s Release becomes effective in accordance with its terms is referred to as the “Release Effective Date.” In the event
Executive’s Release does not become effective within the thirty (30) day period following the Separation Date, Executive shall not be
entitled to the aforesaid Separation Benefits. The Separation Benefits set forth above represent full satisfaction of the Company’s
severance obligations to Executive under the Severance Plan or otherwise.

c. Exclusive Remedy; No Mitigation. The Separation Benefits shall be the exclusive termination benefits to which
Executive is entitled, unless Executive has breached the provisions of this Agreement, in which case Section 8(d) shall apply.
Executive will not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment contemplated by this Agreement, nor will any earnings that
Executive may receive from any other source reduce any such payment. Upon the termination of Executive’s employment prior to
May 2, 2025 (i) by the Company for Cause, or (ii) as a result of Executive’s voluntary resignation for any reason, Executive shall not
be entitled to any of the Separation Benefits and Executive’s sole remedy shall be to receive the Accrued Obligations.

d.  Definition of Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall have the meaning given to such term in the
Severance Plan.

5. Release of Known and Unknown Claims By Executive.

a. In exchange for the Separation Benefits set forth in Section 4 above, and in consideration of the further agreements
and promises set forth herein, Executive, on behalf of herself and her executors, heirs, administrators, representatives and assigns,
hereby agrees to release and forever discharge the Company and all predecessors, successors and their respective parent corporations,
affiliates, related, and/or subsidiary entities, and all of their past and present investors, directors, stockholders, officers, general or
limited partners, employees, attorneys, agents and representatives, and the employee benefit plans (including plan sponsors, plan
fiduciaries, and insurers) in which Executive is or has been a participant by virtue of her employment with or service to the Company
(collectively, the “Company Releasees™), from any and all claims, debts, demands, accounts, judgments, rights, causes of action,
equitable relief, damages, costs, charges, complaints, obligations, promises, agreements, controversies, suits, expenses,
compensation, responsibility and liability of every kind and character whatsoever (including attorneys’ fees and costs), whether in
law or equity, known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, suspected or unsuspected, direct or derivative (collectively, “Claims”),
which Executive has or may have had against such entities based on any events or circumstances arising or occurring on or prior to
the date hereof, arising directly or indirectly out of, relating to, or in any other way involving in any manner whatsoever Executive’s
employment by or service to the Company or the termination thereof, Executive’s ownership of Parent securities or otherwise,
including any and all claims arising under federal, state, or local laws, including without limitation claims of wrongful discharge,
breach of express or implied contract, fraud, misrepresentation, defamation, or liability in tort, and claims of any kind that may be
brought in any court or administrative agency including, without limitation, claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as
amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 2000, et seq.; the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.; the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 701 et seq.; the Civil Rights Act of 1866, and the Civil Rights Act of 1991; 42
U.S.C. § 1981, et seq.; the Equal Pay Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. Section 206(d); regulations of the Office of Federal Contract
Compliance, 41 C.F.R. Section 60, et seq.; the Family and Medical Leave Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.; the Fair Labor
Standards Act of 1938, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.; the Employee Retirement



Income Security Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq.; the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, as amended, 29
U.S.C. § 2101 et seq.; the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, as amended, Cal. Gov. Code § 12940 et seq.; the California
Equal Pay Law, as amended, Cal. Lab. Code §§ 1197.5(a),1199.5; the Moore-Brown-Roberti Family Rights Act of 1991, as
amended, Cal. Gov’t Code §§12945.2, 19702.3; the California WARN Act, Cal. Lab. Code § 1400 et seq.; the California False
Claims Act, Cal. Gov’t Code § 12650 et seq.; or under the California Labor Code, or any other local ordinance or federal or state
statute, regulation or constitution, whether known or unknown arising from any action or inaction whatsoever prior to the date of
execution of this Agreement.

Notwithstanding the generality of the foregoing, Executive does not release any claim which, by law, may not be released, including
the following claims (the “Retained Claims™):

1) Claims for unemployment compensation or any state disability insurance benefits pursuant to the terms of
applicable state law;

(ii) Claims for workers’ compensation insurance benefits under the terms of any worker’s compensation
insurance policy or fund of the Company or its affiliates and/or pursuant to the terms of applicable state law;

(iii) Claims pursuant to the terms and conditions of the federal law known as COBRA or the comparable
California law known as Cal-COBRA;

(iv)  Claims for indemnity under the bylaws of the Company or its affiliates, as provided for by applicable law or
under any applicable insurance policy with respect to Executive’s liability as an employee and officer of the Company or its
affiliates;

) Claims for Executive’s right to bring to the attention of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or
any other federal, state or local government agency claims of discrimination, or from participating in an investigation or proceeding
conducted by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or any other federal, state or local government agency; provided,
however, that Executive does release her right to secure any damages for alleged discriminatory treatment;

(vi)  Claims based on any right Executive may have to enforce the Company’s or its affiliates’ executory
obligations under this Agreement or any agreement referenced herein;

(vii)  Claims Executive may have to vested or earned compensation and benefits; and
(viii))  Executive’s right to communicate or cooperate with any government agency.

b. EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT EXECUTIVE HAS BEEN ADVISED OF AND IS FAMILIAR WITH
THE PROVISIONS OF CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE SECTION 1542, WHICH PROVIDES AS FOLLOWS:

“A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR OR RELEASING PARTY
DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE
AND THAT, IF



KNOWN BY HIM OR HER, WOULD HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEBTOR OR RELEASED PARTY.”

BEING AWARE OF SAID CODE SECTION, EXECUTIVE HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY RIGHTS
EXECUTIVE MAY HAVE THEREUNDER, AS WELL AS UNDER ANY OTHER STATUTES OR COMMON LAW
PRINCIPLES OF SIMILAR EFFECT.

c. Executive represents and warrants to the Company Releasees that there has been no assignment or other transfer of
any interest in any Claim that Executive may have against the Company Releasees. Executive agrees to indemnify and hold harmless
the Company Releasees from any liability, claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred as a result of any
such assignment or transfer from Executive.

6. Additional Representations and Warranties By Executive. Subject to Section 8(¢), Executive represents and warrants that: (a)
Executive has no pending complaints or charges against the Company Releasees, or any of them, with any state or federal court, or any local,
state or federal agency, division, or department based on any event(s) occurring prior to the date Executive signs this Agreement; (b)
Executive has not been subject to any retaliation or any other form of adverse action by the Company Releasees for her exercise of, or
attempt to exercise, any statutory rights recognized under federal, state or local law; (c) except as provided in this Agreement, the Company
Releasees have satisfied in full all obligations they ever had regarding leaves of absence and other time off of any kind (including, but not
limited to, short-term disability leave, family medical leave, military leave, vacations, meal and rest periods, sick and personal days, and
personal leave), and Executive has not suffered any adverse employment action as a result of seeking or taking any such leave of absence or
time off; and (d) Executive has no known workplace injuries or occupational diseases, has not sustained any disabling injury and/or
occupational disease that has resulted in a loss of wage-earning capacity during Executive’s employment, and has no personal injury and/or
occupational disease that has been contributed to, or aggravated or accelerated in a significant manner by, Executive’s employment.

7. Knowing_and Voluntary. Executive represents and agrees that, prior to signing this Agreement, Executive has had the
opportunity to discuss the terms of this Agreement with legal counsel of her choosing. Executive further represents and agrees that she is
entering into this Agreement knowingly and voluntarily. Executive affirms that no promise was made to cause Executive to enter into this
Agreement, other than what is promised in this Agreement. Executive further confirms that she has not relied upon any other statement or
representation by anyone other than what is in this Agreement as a basis for her agreement.

8. Confirmation of Continuing Obligations.

a. Proprietary Information and Inventions. Executive hereby expressly reaffirms her obligations, to the extent any such
obligations survive termination, under the Confidential Information and Invention Assignment Agreement between Executive and
the Company (the “Proprietary Information Agreement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein
by reference.

b. Cooperation. Executive agrees that, following the Separation Date, upon reasonable notice (after taking into account,
to the extent reasonably practicable, her other personal and business commitments) and without the necessity of Company obtaining
a subpoena or court order, she will provide reasonable cooperation to Company in connection with any suit, action or proceeding (or
any appeal from any suit, action or proceeding), or the decision to commence on behalf of the Company any suit, action or
proceeding, any investigation and/or any defense of any claims asserted against the Company or any of the Company’s current or
former directors, officers,



employees, partners, stockholders, agents or representatives of any of the foregoing, and any ongoing or future investigation or
dispute or claim of any kind involving the Company that relates to events occurring during Executive’s employment as to which she
may have relevant information and any other matter for which she was responsible or had knowledge of through the Separation Date,
other than matters in which Executive is an adverse party to the Company. Such cooperation may include, but will not be limited to,
providing background information within her knowledge; aiding in the drafting of declarations; executing declarations or similar
documents; testifying or otherwise appearing at investigation interviews, depositions, arbitrations or court hearings; and preparing for
the above-described or similar activities. Upon the reasonable request of Company, Executive agrees to cooperate with the transition
of her job responsibilities following the Separation Date and cooperate in providing information on matters on which she was
involved while an employee. Executive shall be reimbursed all out-of-pocket costs incurred as a result of such cooperation in
accordance with the terms and conditions stated in the Company’s reimbursement policies. All such cooperation shall be scheduled at
mutually agreeable dates, times and locations.

c. Return of Property. On the Separation Date, Executive will return to the Company all lists, books and records of, or
in connection with, the Company’s business, and all other property belonging to the Company, including, without limitation, any and
all devices, her Company-issued laptop, documents (hard copy or electronic files), data, notes, reports, proposals, lists,
correspondence, specifications, drawings, blueprints, sketches, laboratory notebooks, materials, flow charts, equipment, other
documents or property, or reproductions of any of the aforementioned items, it being distinctly understood that all such lists, books
and records, and other documents and items, are the property of the Company. Executive further represents and warrants that she will
not maintain any Company confidential information after the Separation Date. Executive’s compliance with this Section 8(c) shall be
a condition to her receipt of the Separation Benefits. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive may retain documents relating to her
compensation and benefits from the Company.

d. Remedy in the Event of Breach. In addition to all other rights and remedies available to the Company under law or in
equity, the Company shall be entitled to withhold all Separation Benefits from Executive in the event of her breach of this Section 8
prior to Executive’s receipt of such Separation Benefits.

e. Whistleblower Provision;_Other Protected Activity. Nothing in this Agreement or the Proprietary Information
Agreement shall prevent Executive from communicating directly with, cooperating with, or providing information to, or receiving
financial awards from, any federal, state or local government agency, including, but not limited to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the U.S.
National Labor Relations Board, or the U.S. Department of Justice, without notifying or seeking permission from the Company.
Executive acknowledges that the Company has provided Executive with the following notice of immunity rights in compliance with
the requirements of the Defend Trade Secrets Act: (i) Executive shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or
State trade secret law for the disclosure of proprietary information that is made in confidence to a Federal, State, or local government
official or to an attorney solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law, (ii) Executive shall not be
held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of proprietary information that is made
in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal, and (iii) if Executive files a
lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, Executive may disclose the proprietary information
to Executive’s attorney and use the proprietary information in the court proceeding, if Executive files any document containing the
proprietary information under seal, and




does not disclose the proprietary information, except pursuant to court order. Further, nothing in this Agreement or the Proprietary
Information Agreement shall prevent Executive from discussing or disclosing information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such
as harassment or discrimination or any other conduct that Executive has reason to believe is unlawful.

f. Definitions. For purposes of this Section 8, the term “Company” means not only Opendoor Labs Inc., but also Parent
as well as any company, partnership or entity which, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with
Opendoor Labs Inc.

9. Arbitration. To the extent permitted by applicable law, any dispute, claim or controversy based on, arising out of or relating
to Executive’s employment or this Agreement shall be settled by final and binding arbitration in San Francisco, California, before a single
neutral arbitrator in accordance with the JAMS Employment Arbitration Rules and Procedures (the “Rules”), and judgment on the award
rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. The Rules may be found online at www.jamsadr.com and will be
provided to Executive upon request. If the parties are unable to agree upon an arbitrator, one shall be appointed by JAMS in accordance with
its Rules. Each party shall pay the fees of its own attorneys, the expenses of its witnesses and all other expenses connected with presenting its
case; provided, however, Executive and the Company agree that, to the extent permitted by law, the arbitrator may, in his or her discretion,
award reasonable attorneys’ fees to the prevailing party. Other costs of the arbitration, including the cost of any record or transcripts of the
arbitration, JAMS administrative fees, the fee of the arbitrator, and all other fees and costs, shall be borne by the Company. This Section 9 is
intended to be the exclusive method for resolving any and all claims by the parties against each other for payment of damages under this
Agreement or relating to Executive’s employment; provided, however, that Executive shall retain the right to file administrative charges with
or seek relief through any government agency of competent jurisdiction, and to participate in any government investigation, including but not
limited to (a) claims for workers’ compensation, state disability insurance or unemployment insurance; (b) administrative claims brought
before any state or federal governmental authority; provided, however, that any appeal from an award or from denial of an award of wages
and/or waiting time penalties shall be arbitrated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; and (c) claims for administrative relief from the
United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and/or any similar state agency in any applicable jurisdiction; provided, further,
that Executive shall not be entitled to obtain any monetary relief through such agencies other than workers’ compensation benefits or
unemployment insurance benefits. This Agreement shall not limit either party’s right to obtain any provisional remedy, including, without
limitation, injunctive or similar relief, from any court of competent jurisdiction as may be necessary to protect their rights and interests
pending the outcome of arbitration, including without limitation injunctive relief, in any court of competent jurisdiction. Seeking any such
relief shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such party’s right to compel arbitration. Executive and the Company expressly waive all rights to
a jury trial in court for any statutory or common law claims subject to arbitration as set forth herein. Executive further waives her right to
pursue claims against the Company on a class basis. Except as expressly provided in this Section 9, Executive and the Company agree that
the arbitrator shall have the power and authority to interpret this Agreement and to determine whether a certain dispute or claim is subject to
arbitration under this Agreement. Pursuant to The Ending Forced Arbitration of Sexual Assault and Sexual Harassment Act, however, the
parties agree that only a court shall determine whether a claim relates to a “sexual assault dispute” or a “sexual harassment dispute” (as those
terms are defined in the statute) and is therefore not subject to arbitration. Except in the case of claims that may relate to a “sexual harassment
dispute” or “sexual assault dispute,” the power and authority to determine arbitrability is hereby expressly delegated to the appointed
arbitrator and not to any judge or court to the fullest extent allowed by law.

10. Entire Agreement; Modification. This Agreement, together with the Proprietary Information Agreement and the award
agreements and equity plans governing Executive’s equity awards, constitutes the entire agreement of the parties in respect of the subject
matter contained herein and therein




and supersede all prior or simultaneous representations, discussions, negotiations and agreements, whether written or oral, including, without
limitation, the Severance Plan and that certain offer letter dated July 16, 2016, between Executive and Labs. This Agreement may be
amended or modified only with the written consent of Executive and an authorized representative of the Company. No oral waiver,
amendment or modification will be effective under any circumstances whatsoever.

11. Survival. The covenants, agreements, representations and warranties contained in or made in this Agreement shall survive
the Separation Date or any termination of this Agreement.

12. Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as expressly set forth herein, this Agreement does not create, and shall not be construed as
creating, any rights enforceable by any person not a party to this Agreement.

13. Waiver. The failure of either party hereto at any time to enforce performance by the other party of any provision of this
Agreement shall in no way affect such party’s rights thereafter to enforce the same, nor shall the waiver by either party of any breach of any
provision hereof be deemed to be a waiver by such party of any other breach of the same or any other provision hereof.

14. Notices. Any notice required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered as follows with notice
deemed given as indicated: (a) by personal delivery when delivered personally; (b) by overnight courier upon written verification of receipt;
(c) by email, telecopy or facsimile transmission upon acknowledgment of receipt of electronic transmission; or (d) by certified or registered
mail, return receipt requested, upon verification of receipt. Notice shall be sent to Executive at the address listed on the Company’s personnel
records and to the Company at its principal place of business, or such other address as either party may specify in writing.

15. Severability. In the event any provision of this Agreement is found to be unenforceable by any court of competent
jurisdiction, such provision shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary to allow enforceability of the provision as so limited, it being
intended that the parties shall receive the benefit contemplated herein to the fullest extent permitted by law. If a deemed modification is not
satisfactory in the judgment of such court, the unenforceable provision shall be deemed deleted, and the validity and enforceability of the
remaining provisions shall not be affected thereby.

16. Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the United
States of America and the State of California applicable to contracts made and to be performed wholly within such State, and without regard
to the conflicts of laws principles thereof. Any suit brought hereon shall be brought in the state or federal courts sitting in San Francisco,
California, the parties hereby waiving any claim or defense that such forum is not convenient or proper. Each party hereby agrees that any
such court shall have in personam jurisdiction over it and consents to service of process in any manner authorized by California law.

17. Non-transferability of Interest. None of the rights of Executive to receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to this
Agreement shall be assignable or transferable except through a testamentary disposition or by the laws of descent and distribution upon the
death of Executive. Any attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance, or other disposition (other than as aforesaid) of any interest in the rights
of Executive to receive any form of compensation to be made by the Company pursuant to this Agreement shall be void.

18. Gender. Where the context so requires, the use of the masculine gender shall include the feminine and/or neuter genders and

the singular shall include the plural, and vice versa, and the word “person” shall include any corporation, firm, partnership or other form of
association.
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19. Counterparts; Facsimile or .pdf Signatures. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which
when so executed and delivered will be deemed an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. This
Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile or by .pdf file and upon such delivery the facsimile or .pdf signature will be deemed

to have the same effect as if the original signature had been delivered to the other party.

20. Construction. The language in all parts of this Agreement shall in all cases be construed simply, according to its fair
meaning, and not strictly for or against any of the parties hereto. Without limitation, there shall be no presumption against any party on the
ground that such party was responsible for drafting this Agreement or any part thereof. The headings of the several sections in this
Agreement are inserted solely for the convenience of the parties and are not a part of and are not intended to govern, limit or aid in the
construction of any term or provision hereof.

21. Withholding_and Other Deductions; Right to Seek Independent Advice. All compensation payable to Executive hereunder
shall be subject to such deductions as the Company is from time to time required to make pursuant to law, governmental regulation or order.
Executive acknowledges and agrees that neither the Company nor the Company’s counsel has provided any legal or tax advice to Executive
and that Executive is free to, and is hereby advised to, consult with a legal or tax advisor of her choosing.

22. Section 409A.

a. Executive’s termination of employment on the Separation Date will constitute Executive’s “separation from service”
within the meaning of Code Section 409A, and the final regulations and any guidance promulgated thereunder (“Section 409A4”).
This Agreement is not intended to provide for any deferral of compensation subject to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”). To the extent applicable, this Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with Code Section 409A
and Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder consistent with the foregoing intention.
For purposes of Section 409A of the Code, any right to a series of installment payments under this Agreement shall be treated as a
right to a series of separate payments.

b. If Executive is a “specified employee” (as defined in Section 409A of the Code), as determined by the Company in
accordance with Section 409A of the Code, on the Separation Date, to the extent that the payments or benefits under this Agreement
are “non-qualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A of the Code and the delayed payment or distribution of all or any
portion of such amounts to which Executive is entitled under this Agreement is required in order to avoid a prohibited distribution
under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, then such portion deferred pursuant to this Section 19(b) shall be paid or distributed to
Executive in a lump sum on the earlier of (i) the date that is six (6) months and one day following Executive’s Separation from
Service, (ii) the date of Executive’s death, or (iii) the earliest date as is permitted under Section 409A of the Code. Any remaining
payments due under this Agreement shall be paid as otherwise provided herein.

c. With regard to any provision herein that provides for reimbursement of costs and expenses or in-kind benefits,
except as permitted by Section 409A, (i) the right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange
for another benefit, (ii) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits, provided during any taxable year shall
not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits, to be provided in any other taxable year; provided, that this
Section 19(c) shall not be violated with regard to expenses reimbursed under any arrangement covered by Section 105(b) of the Code
solely because such expenses are subject to a limit related to the period the arrangement is in effect and (iii) such
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payments shall be made on or before the last day of Executive’s taxable year following the taxable year in which the expense
occurred.

d. In the event that the amounts payable under this Agreement constitute “non-qualified deferred compensation”
subject to Section 409A of the Code and the timing of the delivery of Executive’s Release could cause such amounts to be paid in
one or another taxable year, then notwithstanding the payment timing set forth in such sections, such amounts shall not be payable
until the later of (i) the payment date specified in such section or (ii) the first business day of the taxable year following the
Separation Date.

e. In no event whatsoever shall the Company be liable for any taxes, penalties or interest that may be imposed on
Executive pursuant to Section 409A or under any other similar provision of state tax law, including but not limited to, damages for

failing to comply with Section 409A and/or any other similar provision of state tax law.

[Signature Page Follows]
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PLEASE READ CAREFULLY. THIS AGREEMENT CONTAINS A RELEASE OF ALL KNOWN AND UNKNOWN
CLAIMS.

THE UNDERSIGNED AGREE TO THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERS INTO IT
WITH THE INTENT TO BE BOUND THEREBY.

EXECUTIVE:

Dated:  9/30/2024 /s/ Christina Schwartz
Christina Schwartz

PARENT:

Dated:  9/30/2024 OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.
By: /s/ Carrie Wheeler
Name: Carrie Wheeler
Title: Chief Executive Officer
LABS:

Dated:  9/30/2024 OPENDOOR LABS INC.
By: /s/ Carrie Wheeler
Name: Carrie Wheeler

Title: Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT A
GENERAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS

This General Release of Claims (“Release”) is entered into as of this day of , , among Christina Schwartz
(“Executive”), Opendoor Technologies Inc. (“Parenf’) and Opendoor Labs Inc. (“Labs,” and together with Parent, the “Company”).
Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have those meanings set forth in the Transition Agreement.

WHEREAS, Executive and the Company are parties to that certain Transition Agreement dated as of
Agreement”);

, 2024 (the “Transition

WHEREAS, the parties agree that Executive is entitled to certain Separation Benefits under Section 4 of the Transition Agreement,
subject to the effectiveness of this Release; and

WHEREAS, the Company and Executive now wish to fully and finally to resolve all matters between them.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of, and subject to, the Separation Benefits payable to Executive pursuant to the Transition
Agreement, the adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged by Executive, and which Executive acknowledges that she would not otherwise
be entitled to receive, Executive and the Company hereby agree as follows:

1. Release of Known and Unknown Claims By Executive.

a. In exchange for the Separation Benefits payable to Executive pursuant to the Transition Agreement, and in
consideration of the further agreements and promises set forth herein, Executive, on behalf of herself and her executors, heirs,
administrators, representatives and assigns, hereby agrees to release and forever discharge the Company and all predecessors,
successors and their respective parent corporations, affiliates, related, and/or subsidiary entities, and all of their past and present
investors, directors, stockholders, officers, general or limited partners, employees, attorneys, agents and representatives, and the
employee benefit plans (including plan sponsors, plan fiduciaries, and insurers) in which Executive is or has been a participant by
virtue of her employment with or service to the Company (collectively, the “Company Releasees™), from any and all claims, debts,
demands, accounts, judgments, rights, causes of action, equitable relief, damages, costs, charges, complaints, obligations, promises,
agreements, controversies, suits, expenses, compensation, responsibility and liability of every kind and character whatsoever
(including attorneys’ fees and costs), whether in law or equity, known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, suspected or unsuspected,
direct or derivative (collectively, “Claims’), which Executive has or may have had against such entities based on any events or
circumstances arising or occurring on or prior to the date hereof, arising directly or indirectly out of, relating to, or in any other way
involving in any manner whatsoever Executive’s employment by or service to the Company or the termination thereof, Executive’s
ownership of Parent securities or otherwise, including any and all claims arising under federal, state, or local laws, including without
limitation claims of wrongful discharge, breach of express or implied contract, fraud, misrepresentation, defamation, or liability in
tort, and claims of any kind that may be brought in any court or administrative agency including, without limitation, claims under
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 2000, et seq.; the Americans with Disabilities Act, as
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.; the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 701 et seq.; the Civil Rights Act of
1866, and the Civil Rights Act of 1991; 42 U.S.C. § 1981, et seq.; the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended, 29
U.S.C. Section 621, et seq. (the “ADEA”); the Equal Pay Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. Section 206(d);
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regulations of the Office of Federal Contract Compliance, 41 C.F.R. Section 60, et seq.; the Family and Medical Leave Act, as
amended, 29 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.; the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.; the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq.; the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, as
amended, 29 U.S.C. § 2101 et seq.; the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, as amended, Cal. Gov. Code § 12940 et seq.;
the California Equal Pay Law, as amended, Cal. Lab. Code §§ 1197.5(a),1199.5; the Moore-Brown-Roberti Family Rights Act of
1991, as amended, Cal. Gov’t Code §§12945.2, 19702.3; the California WARN Act, Cal. Lab. Code § 1400 et seq.; the California
False Claims Act, Cal. Gov’t Code § 12650 et seq.; or under the California Labor Code, or any other local ordinance or federal or
state statute, regulation or constitution, whether known or unknown arising from any action or inaction whatsoever prior to the date
of execution of this Release.

Notwithstanding the generality of the foregoing, Executive does not release any claim which, by law, may not be released, including
the following claims (the “Retained Claims”):

1) Claims for unemployment compensation or any state disability insurance benefits pursuant to the terms of
applicable state law;

(i1) Claims for workers’ compensation insurance benefits under the terms of any worker’s compensation
insurance policy or fund of the Company or its affiliates and/or pursuant to the terms of applicable state law;

(iii)  Claims pursuant to the terms and conditions of the federal law known as COBRA or the comparable
California law known as Cal-COBRA;

(iv)  Claims for indemnity under the bylaws of the Company or its affiliates, as provided for by applicable law or
under any applicable insurance policy with respect to Executive’s liability as an employee and officer of the Company or its
affiliates;

v) Claims for Executive’s right to bring to the attention of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or
any other federal, state or local government agency claims of discrimination, or from participating in an investigation or proceeding
conducted by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or any other federal, state or local government agency; provided,
however, that Executive does release her right to secure any damages for alleged discriminatory treatment;

(vi)  Claims based on any right Executive may have to enforce the Company’s or its affiliates’ executory
obligations under the Transition Agreement or any agreement referenced therein;

(vii)  Claims Executive may have to vested or earned compensation and benefits; and
(viii)  Executive’s right to communicate or cooperate with any government agency.

b. EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT EXECUTIVE HAS BEEN ADVISED OF AND IS FAMILIAR WITH
THE PROVISIONS OF CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE SECTION 1542, WHICH PROVIDES AS FOLLOWS:
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“A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR OR RELEASING PARTY
DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE
AND THAT, IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER, WOULD HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT
WITH THE DEBTOR OR RELEASED PARTY.”

BEING AWARE OF SAID CODE SECTION, EXECUTIVE HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY RIGHTS
EXECUTIVE MAY HAVE THEREUNDER, AS WELL AS UNDER ANY OTHER STATUTES OR COMMON LAW
PRINCIPLES OF SIMILAR EFFECT.

c. Executive acknowledges that Executive will have twenty-one (21) days’ time from the date the Company delivered
to Executive a copy of this Release in which to consider this Release (the “Review Period”). Executive further acknowledges that the
Company has advised Executive that she is waiving her rights under the ADEA, and that Executive has the right to and should
consult with an attorney of her choice before signing this Release, and Executive has had sufficient time to consider the terms of this
Release. Executive represents and acknowledges that if Executive executes this Release prior to the expiration of the Review Period,
Executive does so knowingly, voluntarily, and upon the advice and with the approval of Executive’s legal counsel (if any), and that
Executive voluntarily waives any remaining consideration period. Executive acknowledges and agrees that any material or
immaterial changes to the Release shall not extend the foregoing Review Period or the deadline for the occurrence of the Effective
Date.

d. Executive understands that after executing this Release, Executive has the right to revoke it within seven (7) days
after her execution of it. Executive understands that this Release will not become effective and enforceable unless the seven (7) day
revocation period passes and Executive does not revoke the Release in writing. Executive understands that this Release may not be
revoked after the seven (7) day revocation period has passed. Executive also understands that any revocation of this Release must be
made in writing and delivered to Sydney Schaub, Chief Legal Officer of the Company, within the seven (7) day period.

e. Executive understands that this Release shall become effective, irrevocable, and binding upon Executive on the
eighth (8") day after her execution of it, so long as Executive has not revoked it within the time period and in the manner specified in
clause (d) above.

f. Executive further understands that Executive will not be given any Separation Benefits unless Executive executes
this Release on or prior to the last day of the Review Period and thereafter allows the revocation period specified in clause (d) above
to lapse without revocation by Executive. In the event Executive does not execute this Release on or prior to the last day of the
Review Period, or revokes this Release thereafter as provided in clause (d) above, this Release shall not be effective and the
Company shall have no obligations to Executive hereunder.

g. Executive represents and warrants to the Company Releasees that there has been no assignment or other transfer of
any interest in any Claim that Executive may have against the Company Releasees. Executive agrees to indemnify and hold harmless
the Company Releasees from any liability, claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred as a result of any
such assignment or transfer from Executive.

2. Additional Representations and Warranties By Executive. Subject to Section 8(e) of the Transition Agreement, Executive

represents and warrants that: (a) Executive has no pending complaints or charges against the Company Releasees, or any of them, with any
state or federal court, or any local, state
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or federal agency, division, or department based on any event(s) occurring prior to the date Executive signs this Release; (b) except solely to
the extent related to any Retained Claim, Executive will not in the future, file, participate in, instigate or assist in the prosecution of any
claim, complaints, charges or in any lawsuit by any party in any state or federal court against the Company Releasees, or any of them unless
such aid or assistance is ordered by a court or government agency or sought by compulsory legal process, claiming that the Company
Releasees, or any of them, have violated any local, state or federal laws, statutes, ordinances or regulations based upon events occurring prior
to her execution of this Release; (c) Executive has not been subject to any retaliation or any other form of adverse action by the Company
Releasees for her exercise of, or attempt to exercise, any statutory rights recognized under federal, state or local law; (d) the Company
Releasees have satisfied in full all obligations they ever had regarding leaves of absence and other time off of any kind (including, but not
limited to, short-term disability leave, family medical leave, military leave, vacations, meal and rest periods, sick and personal days, and
personal leave), and Executive has not suffered any adverse employment action as a result of seeking or taking any such leave of absence or
time off; (¢) Executive has no known workplace injuries or occupational diseases, has not sustained any disabling injury and/or occupational
disease that has resulted in a loss of wage-earning capacity during Executive’s employment, and has no personal injury and/or occupational
disease that has been contributed to, or aggravated or accelerated in a significant manner by, Executive’s employment or separation from
employment; and (f) the Separation Benefits represent complete satisfaction of any amounts owed to Executive as a result of her termination
of employment under the Severance Plan or any other agreement between Executive and Parent, Labs or any affiliate thereof.

3. Continuing Obligations. Executive hereby expressly reaffirms her obligations under Section 8 of the Transition Agreement
and the Proprietary Information Agreement, and agrees that such obligations shall survive the Transition Date. By signing below, Executive
represents and warrants that Executive has returned to the Company all lists, books and records of, or in connection with, the Company’s
business, and all other property belonging to the Company, including, without limitation, any and all devices, her Company-issued laptop,
documents (hard copy or electronic files), data, notes, reports, proposals, lists, correspondence, specifications, drawings, blueprints, sketches,
laboratory notebooks, materials, flow charts, equipment, other documents or property, or reproductions of any of the aforementioned items, it
being distinctly understood that all such lists, books and records, and other documents and items, are the property of the Company. Executive
further represents and warrants that she has not nor will she copy or transfer any Company information, nor will she maintain any Company
confidential information after the Separation Date. Executive’s compliance with this Section 3 shall be a condition to her receipt of the
Separation Benefits. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive may retain documents relating to her compensation and benefits from the
Company.

4. No Assignment. Executive represents and warrants to the Company Releasees that there has been no assignment or other
transfer of any interest in any Claim that Executive may have against the Company Releasees. Executive agrees to indemnify and hold
harmless the Company Releasees from any liability, claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred as a result of any
such assignment or transfer from Executive. The Company may assign this Release to any successor to all or substantially all of its business
and/or assets or any affiliate.

5. Severability. In the event any provision of this Release is found to be unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction,
such provision shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary to allow enforceability of the provision as so limited, it being intended that
the parties shall receive the benefit contemplated herein to the fullest extent permitted by law. If a deemed modification is not satisfactory in
the judgment of such court, the unenforceable provision shall be deemed deleted, and the validity and enforceability of the remaining
provisions shall not be affected thereby.

6. Governing Law and Venue. This Release will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the United States
of America and the State of California applicable to contracts made and
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to be performed wholly within such State, and without regard to the conflicts of laws principles thereof. Any suit brought hereon shall be
brought in the state or federal courts sitting in San Francisco, California, the parties hereby waiving any claim or defense that such forum is
not convenient or proper. Each party hereby agrees that any such court shall have in personam jurisdiction over it and consents to service of
process in any manner authorized by California law.

7. Amendments; Waivers. This Release may not be modified, amended, or terminated except by an instrument in writing signed
by Executive and a duly authorized representative of the Company. By an instrument in writing similarly executed, Executive or a duly
authorized officer of the Company, as applicable, may waive compliance by the other Party with any specifically identified provision of this
Release that such other Party was or is obligated to comply with or perform; provided, however, that such waiver shall not operate as a
waiver of, or estoppel with respect to, any other or subsequent failure. No failure to exercise and no delay in exercising any right, remedy, or
power hereunder shall preclude any other or further exercise of any other right, remedy, or power provided herein or by law or in equity.

8. Entire Agreement; Modification. This Release, together with the Proprietary Information Agreement, the Transition
Agreement and the award agreements and equity plans governing Executive’s equity awards, constitutes the entire agreement of the parties in
respect of the subject matter contained herein and therein and supersede all prior or simultaneous representations, discussions, negotiations
and agreements, whether written or oral, including, without limitation, the Severance Plan and that certain offer letter dated July 16, 2016,
between Executive and Labs. This Release may be amended or modified only with the written consent of Executive and an authorized
representative of the Company. No oral waiver, amendment or modification will be effective under any circumstances whatsoever.

9. Knowing_and Voluntary. Executive represents and agrees that, prior to signing this Release, Executive has had the
opportunity to discuss the terms of this Release with legal counsel of her choosing. Executive further represents and agrees that she is
entering into this Release knowingly and voluntarily. Executive affirms that no promise was made to cause Executive to enter into this
Release, other than what is promised in this Release. Executive further confirms that she has not relied upon any other statement or
representation by anyone other than what is in this Release as a basis for her agreement.

when so executed and delivered will be deemed an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. This
Release may be executed and delivered by facsimile or by .pdf file and upon such delivery the facsimile or .pdf signature will be deemed to
have the same effect as if the original signature had been delivered to the other party.

10. Counterparts; Facsimile or .pdf Signatures. This Release may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which

[Signature Page Follows]
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PLEASE READ CAREFULLY. THIS RELEASE CONTAINS A RELEASE OF ALL KNOWN AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS.

THE UNDERSIGNED AGREE TO THE TERMS OF THIS RELEASE AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERS INTO IT WITH
THE INTENT TO BE BOUND THEREBY.

EXECUTIVE:

Dated:

Christina Schwartz

PARENT:

Dated: OPENDOOR TECHNOLOGIES INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

LABS:

Dated: OPENDOOR LABS INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT B

PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AGREEMENT
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Carrie Wheeler, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Opendoor Technologies, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: November 07, 2024 By: /s/ Carrie Wheeler

Carrie Wheeler
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Olfficer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF ACCOUNTING OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Christina Schwartz, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Opendoor Technologies, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: November 07, 2024 By: /s/ Christina Schwartz

Christina Schwartz
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF ACCOUNTING OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Opendoor Technologies Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended September 30, 2024 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Carrie Wheeler, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, and Christina Schwartz, Chief Accounting Officer of the Company, each certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 07, 2024 By: /s/ Carrie Wheeler

Carrie Wheeler
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 07, 2024 By: /s/ Christina Schwartz
Christina Schwartz
Chief Accounting Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



